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Corporate Profile 2 3 f&

Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 3868) was listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 2 October 2007. We are the largest decorative base paper
manufacturer in the PRC, specialising in the production of decorative base paper products and printing
paper product.

We developed and marketed more than 80 types of decorative base paper products under our own
brand name with different specifications which are customised for various industrial and customers’ needs.
Our decorative base paper products, being intermediate products, are commonly used as decorative
layer to furnish the surface of laminated board, a decorative material which has wide applications in
interior decoration of buildings and transportation vehicles, processed products such as fortified wooden
floorboard, furniture and composite office and household wares. Our printing paper product is mainly used
for photocopying and office printing.

We currently own and operate 11 highly automated paper Production lines nos. 1 to 11 in Zouping
County, Binzhou City, Shandong Province, the PRC with an aggregate designed annual production
capacity of approximately 320,000 tonnes.

We have an experienced sales and marketing team serving 6 designated sales regions in the PRC and
have over 110 customers covering 13 provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities in the PRC.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
o 7 & F

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Chairman)

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Vice-chairman)
Mr. SUN Zhen Shui

Non-executive Director
Ms. SUN Rui Fang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Wei

Mr. WANG Lu

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong (Committee Chairman)

Mr. ZHAO Wei
Mr. WANG Lu

Executive Committee

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Committee Chairman)
Mr. ZHU Mo Qun

Mr. SUN Zhen Shui

Nomination Committee

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Committee Chairman)
Mr. ZHAO Wei

Mr. WANG Lu

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong

Remuneration Committee

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Committee Chairman)
Mr. ZHAO Wei

Mr. WANG Lu

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. LAM Wai Yee, Sophie

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo
Ms. LAM Wai Yee, Sophie

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law
DLA Piper Hong Kong

As to Cayman Islands law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

PRINCIPAL BANKERS IN HONG KONG

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS IN THE PRC

Agricultural Bank of China, Changshan Sub-branch
Bank of China, Zouping Sub-branch
China Construction Bank, Zouping Sub-branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,

Zouping Sub-branch

AUDITORS

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG

KONG

Suite 1901A, Exchange Tower
33 Wang Chiu Road

Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN THE PRC

San Li He

Chang Shan Town
Zouping County
Shandong Province
The PRC

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609

Grand Cayman

KY1-1107

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 3868

Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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WEBSITES

WWW.gxpaper.com
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/gxpaper/

INVESTOR AND MEDIA RELATIONS
CONSULTANT

iPR Ogilvy Ltd.

2010 FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of 2009 Annual Results:
17 March 2010

2010 Annual General Meeting:
5 May 2010

Announcement of 2010 Interim Results:
August 2010 (tentative date)

2009 FINAL DIVIDEND

Payment of HK7.403 cents (in scrip form)
Dividend Per

Share

Period of Book 29 April 2010 to 5 May 2010
Closure (both days inclusive)

Despatch of 8 June 2010
Definitive Share

Certificates
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“associate(s)”

K YN

4

“Articles of Association’
(AR =Z4EEA]

“Board”
[EEw

“BVI”
[(RBELES]

“CG Code”
[{EERFA
“Code Provision(s)”
[<F BI 5

“Company” or “QX Paper”
[RRRS B2 E]

“connected person(s)”
[ A1

“Director(s)”

(&%=

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LA T HRE

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time
of time)
RRABEBERER(ETRIER)

the board of Directors

59

the British Virgin Islands
RERLES

the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
EARAMS14mE KR EERTE R

the code provision(s) under the CG Code
FHNPEERTRTRIMEX

Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

EREFERBERAR  —HERSHSTMAIOHARRA
HEe #TRONBRMER LM

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HALMABMAETRE

director(s) of the Company

KRARESE

Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited

HEARZEZERARAT



“GI’OUD”, “QX GI’OUD”, “we”,
“our’” or “us”

[REE KB ESHE]

"HKS”
%7

“Hong Kong”
(&%

“Listing Rules”

[ BR8]

“Model Code”
[1E4E<F Rl

“PRC”
[

“printing paper”
[ ED il AR 4%

“Prospectus”

(AR ERE]

“QX Securities Dealing Code”
(HEZBSFEETA

DEFINITIONS
B

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRE RENE LA

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BBEEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEFEBRRITERRR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange

(Bt FTRE 77 L AR BID

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
EHRAIMESEI0 MK EMARIESETESRHNZRESTAD

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this
annual report, shall exclude Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

REARKNE  gAFHRME TRESE  FERPISRITTHR

£
=N e A

a kind of paper commonly used for photocopying and office printing
—RBEEART RN =R &K

the prospectus of the Company dated 17 September 2007
ARABHA_ZTLFNLATEANBERER

a securities dealing code adopted by the Company on 8 September
2007 (as amended from time to time) on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code
RARARZZEZLFAANBEACEZFEETINN(ETKE
) HERTRIEET AR R
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“RMB”
(AR

“SFO”

[ 38 75 & B & 151

“Shandong QX”
[IREFE ]

“sgq.m.”

[ 75K

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 32 Fir |

“substantial shareholder(s)”

[E2RR

“tonne”

[ 148 |

H%H
[% ]

* for identification purpose only

1215

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR HBUEEE®

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)
BEEEDIESTIE(EF LBAE G

Shandong Qunxing Paper Limited”, a limited liability company
established in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

IWRHELAEARLAA  —MRFPEXIOHARRAGF  WAEAR
GV ES- L= N

square meter

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMAERIMABRATA

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA LA RAE T RE

a metric tonne, equivalent to 1,000 kilograms
—RWE - AHE 11,0008 fr

per cent.
Bkt

Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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“decorative base

paper’

[ 5 & 7 4K

a kind of specialty paper
which is used as a
decorative layer to be
impregnated with various
wooden or synthetic
materials to form laminated
board

— BB AIERHKRE
I AR R AR S B ELNR
BRI A R

GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“laminated board”

[ A&

a board product comprising
a plurality of adjacent
sheets of wooden or
synthetic materials and
decorative base paper,

laid onto each other by an
adhesive bonding material
positioned in between to
form a laminate
HEEEHESENARRE
B R R 55 B R AL AR A O R
REmM - ARIEWE S E
MENARKHER

Structure diagram of laminated board

AERZERE

=

a kind of paper commonly
used for photocopying and
printing

—BEEANZD R
ek

TREE

B i A &

“specialty paper”

[45E4

a kind of paper with unique
properties which is suitable
for special purposes and

is not considered to be

one of the standard papers
by paper manufacturing
industry

— & A5 R T 3 R R
A&k  EEAERT
BREEMR K2 —

Durable overlay
[BIEEIE
Decorative base paper

KR

High-density fiberboard
= S AR
Stabilizing layer
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBERE

2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 Change
AR® T ARETFT o)
Operating Results rRExEE
Turnover - 1,530,321 1,496,360 +2.3%
Profit from operations 4 s 375,862 396,681 -5.2%
Profit before taxation % B0 Bl A 371,694 383,361 -3.0%
Profit attributable to equity M 25 IR 2R FE 1 Ui A
shareholders 324,087 383,361 -15.5%
Per Share Data BREE
Basic earnings per share A% £ 7K & A
(RMB cents) (AR S) 31 37 -16.2%
Dividend per share BREE
(HK cents) (&) 10.68 12.61 -15.3%
— Final — K Hf 7.403 8.45
— Interim — FB Hf 3.277 4.16
Financial Position B 7 AR R
Total assets BERE 2,530,525 2,689,828 -5.9%
Cash and cash equivalents BE MRS EEBY 682,764 1,539,373 -55.6%
Total liabilities BERE 78,216 454,621 -82.8%
Total equity o ARE 2,452,309 2,235,207 +9.7%
Financial Ratios B 7t =
Gross profit margin EFE 27.8% 27.1% +0.7% pts
Elk
Net profit margin Fm A 21.2% 25.6% -4.4% pts
Bo 2
Return on assets B EOHRE 12.8% 14.3% -1.5% pts
Bo 2
Return on equity 1 25 [B] 5 K 13.2% 17.2% -4.0% pts
Bo 2
Current ratio B K 10.1 3.7 +6.4 times &
Quick ratio s 9.7 3.6 +6.1 times &
Gearing ratio EEBELE 0% 4.6% -4.6% pts
B2

HERXEZERAERAA
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Dr. ZHU Yu Guo
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITRBES

BUSINESS REVIEW

In the face of financial tsunami triggered by the U.S.
subprime mortgage crisis, authorities across the globe
responded quickly and took various remedial measures
to shore up international financial system so as to
stabilise the macro economy. The global economy
has experienced a gradual recovery since the trough
in March 2009. Given swift policy actions taken by
the PRC government, including the introduction of a
RMBA4 ftrillion fiscal stimulus package, the fundamentals
of the PRC’s economy remained intact throughout
the global financial crisis. According to the National
Bureau of Statistics, China’s gross domestic product
(GDP) in 2009 grew by 8.7% to RMB33,535.3 billion
from 2008, reflecting the continuing urbanisation and
improvement in people’s living standards in the PRC.

The decorative base paper industry in the PRC is
less affected by the global financial crisis without a
sharp decline in market demand. During the year,
urbanisation has been accelerating in second-
and third-tiered cities in the PRC and the PRC
government gave strong backing for the construction
of economically affordable housing, which in turn
fueled demand for laminated boards, the economic
and environmental friendly substitutes for logs. Such
development provided sustained driving forces for
growth of the Group’s decorative base paper business.

Despite facing the challenging market environment, the
overall business performance of the Group remained
stable boosted by improvements in operating efficiency
and margins. For the year ended 31 December
2009, the Group recorded a turnover of RMB1,530.3
million, representing an increase of 2.3% as compared
with the corresponding period in 2008. The overall
gross profit margin increased from 27.1% in 2008
to 27.8% in 2009. Profit for the year amounted to
RMB324.1 million, representing a decrease of 15.5%
as compared with the corresponding period in 2008.
Basic earnings per share were RMB31 cents (2008:
RMB37 cents).

1 2 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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Expansion of production capacity

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has invested
in and is currently operating 11 highly automated
Production lines nos. 1 to 11 with an aggregate
designed annual production capacity of approximately
320,000 tonnes, comprising approximately 270,000
tonnes of decorative base paper products and
approximately 50,000 tonnes of printing paper product.
Construction of Production lines nos. 12 and 13,
each of which has a designed annual production
capacity of approximately 30,000 tonnes, is currently
underway and is scheduled to be completed by mid
2010. Commercial production of these Production
lines is expected to commence in late 2010. By then,
the Group’s aggregate designed annual production
capacity will reach approximately 380,000 tonnes.

We will also input resources to refine existing
production lines in order to increase production
efficiency and to further enhance the Group’s
competitiveness.

Comprehensive distribution channels

During the year under review, the Group continued
to focus on developing business in its 6 designated
sales regions in the PRC, namely, Shandong, Sichuan,
Guangdong, Beijing, Jiangsu and Zhejiang. The Group
maintained a comprehensive distribution channel
with over 110 customers covering 13 provinces,
autonomous regions and municipalities in the PRC.
The Group will strive to maintain and consolidate long-
term relationships with existing customers.

Research and development of products

The Group has marketed more than 80 types of
decorative base paper products that can be used
in a diversified spectrum of areas, including furniture
and flooring of home and office, interior decoration
of large scale infrastructure facilities and vehicles. In
the face of growing market demand, the QX Group
will continue to optimize product mix and enlarge the
weighting of premium decorative base paper products
SO as to capture a larger market share and to increase
profitability.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITRBES

In our on-going efforts to enhance research and
development capabilities, the Group continued our
strategic partnership with Research and Design
Institute of Papermaking Industry of Shandong
Province* (ILREEH/ TE MR K5TPT) so as to
conduct research and develop new products and
technology.

Environmental protection

Environmental protection always plays an important
part on the Group’s agenda. Being the Group’s core
product, decorative base paper products are indeed a
cost-effective alternative to wood products. Moreover,
the premium wood pulp used for producing decorative
base paper causes almost no pollution and conforms
to the national policies of the PRC for environmental
protection.

We have also endeavoured to alleviate the impact
of our operation on the environment. The Group has
currently a waste water treatment system with an
annual processing capacity of approximately 1,700,000
cubic meters. To cope with the expansion of our
production capacity, construction of another waste
water treatment system with an annual processing
capacity of approximately 3,650,000 cubic meters
was completed in December 2009. Waste water
after treatment is reused for irrigation at the Group’s
production base in Shandong.

Awards and recognition

The Group continued to receive a number of
accreditations for its management excellence and
remarkable business performance during the year.
QX Paper was conferred “The Credible Enterprise
of China Accreditation in 2009” jointly by China
Enterprise Reputation and Credibility Association
(Overseas) Ltd. and Reputation Institute China. The
Group was also named as one of “Top 500 Overseas
Chinese Merchants in China’s Market (Mainland)*” by
Ta Kung Pao (KA%R) and Hai Wai Wen Zhai (/84N
X ##). Besides, Shandong Qunxing Paper Limited*
(“Shandong QX”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, was granted “2008 Chinese Enterprise with
Excellent Integrity” award by the China Enterprise
Confederation and the China Entrepreneur Association.

1 4 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited

HERXEZERAERAA

REBEIRRMBERE N AKEEFEILIRE
ERTITEMARTENRBECIERHH
& - BT AT E n BIIT ©

RERE
AEE-—MERRRERE - RAKBEHNZL
EmEHRESANERNREZLmo » K
SELEXMHREMERNSAANE L
EBRETPUY TS EEBRRESR TAF
BRIREREIR

B AT IR N RAR AN £R B & B BRI AT AR EY
TE AEEBREFEESKBRERR B8F
A] B& ¥2 £91,700,0003 77 K )57K - KEE 5
—SKRERSNERIECR _TTAF
TZART - % FRGEF A 52 493,650,000
MIKIFK BAEEAEBENERER -
REENSKEREASBUREEREM L
BB BB KIR

BB R B

AEBEENFAREEEREEREHN
XBKRBNSZERBE TR HEREL
BHRE(BIINCEGEEHEREEHRHER
(FRBMAETROH ST AFEEFEHEE
¥ |RE - AEENE(CR2RROBINT
BB AEEINERPETIS(KKE)50058 ]2
— o lltIh KRB ZE2ENBEARILEREE
MEBRAB(NURBHE D EPBELEHRS
FRPBHPERBEE T[2008F F BHEFH
BELEIZHEL BLRBEESPHER



Moreover, Shandong QX was named as one of
“Top 30 Papermaking Enterprises in China*” while
| personally was named as one of “Outstanding
Entrepreneur of Papermaking Industry in China*” by
China Paper Association.

OUTLOOK

While market data and various indicators suggest that
the PRC’s domestic market will continue to grow and
experience a growth in export-driven demand following
the gradual recovery of the global economy, the PRC’s
economy is likely to remain its upward trend in 2010.
The Group will nevertheless adopt a prudent approach
and closely monitor any market changes. With the
PRC government’s strong support for industries
related to environmental protection, the uniqueness
of our decorative base paper products and the solid
foundation of the Group, the management is confident
that the Group will be able to achieve stable growth in
2010.

Looking ahead, the Group will uphold its
competitiveness and strengthen its leading market
position through various initiatives, such as enhancing
product quality, optimising product portfolio, improving
research and development capability and strengthening
both cost and quality control. Taking advantage
of our strong financial position, the Group is well-
positioned to explore and capture suitable and relevant
development opportunities with an aim to maximising
our shareholders’ value in the long run.

é, l

ZHU Yu Guo & XEE
Chairman F/Z

Shandong, the PRC, 17 March 2010
FELR  —ZE-—FTF=A++tH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

The following discussion and analysis should be read
in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements of our Group as at and for the year ended
31 December 2009 and the accompanying notes set
out in this annual report.

OVERVIEW

Our Group is principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of decorative base paper products and
printing paper product. As ranked by China Paper
Association, our Group is the largest decorative base
paper manufacturer in terms of the actual annual
production capacity in the PRC since 2005.

1 8 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

OVERVIEW (Continued)

Though the macroeconomic environment in the PRC
is facing a challenging time after the financial tsunami
in late 2008, our Group continued to achieve growth
in the business during the year under review. We
are continuing to expand the production capacity
and improve the technical know-how in the provision
of quality decorative base paper products to our
customers. Our turnover increased by approximately
2.3% from RMB1,496.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2008 to RMB1,530.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2009. The increase in turnover
was mainly attributable to the increase in our Group’s
production capacity as a result of the commercial
operation of Production lines nos. 8 to 9 and nos.
10 to 11 since March 2009 and December 2009,
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

OVERVIEW (Continued)

During the year under review, our profit before taxation
decreased by approximately 3.0% from RMB383.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2008 to
RMB371.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2009. As a consequence of persistently low interest
rate environment in the wake of the financial tsunami,
our interest income decreased by approximately 90.0%
from RMB40.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2008 to RMB4.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2009. Excluding the effect of other revenue
(included mainly interest income as discussed above)
and other net loss from non-core operations, our
profit before taxation from core operations increased
by approximately 6.7% from RMB344.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to RMB367.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Our Group was entitled to a full exemption from
the PRC income tax in 2008. Starting from 2009,
our profit from operation in the PRC is subject to
a reduced PRC income tax rate of 12.5% for three
years till 31 December 2011. As a result, our profit
for the year decreased by approximately 15.5% from
RMB383.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2008 to RMB324.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2009.

The basic earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2008 and 2009 were RMB37 cents and
RMB31 cents, respectively. The decrease in the basic
earnings per share for the year under review was
mainly attributable to the effect of low interest income
and the payment of PRC income tax as discussed
above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years

Our production capacity has been expanded
significantly in recent years through establishing new
production facilities as well as re-engineering and
modifying the existing production facilities with a view
to improving the production efficiency. With the highly
automated production facilities at our production base
located in Zouping County, Binzhou City, Shandong
Province, the PRC, we are able to provide one-stop
service for a wide range of decorative base paper
products.

Production lines nos. 1 to 6

Since the commencement of our operation, we have
successfully increased our designed annual production
capacity from approximately 10,000 tonnes in 1999
to approximately 170,000 tonnes in 2006. As of 31
December 2006, we owned and operated six highly
automated Production lines nos. 1 to 6, with an
aggregate designed annual production capacity of
approximately 170,000 tonnes.

Production line no. 7

In order to tap the continuously growing demand for
decorative base paper products in the PRC market,
we commenced the construction of various production
lines since 2007. In May 2007, we commenced the
construction of Production line no. 7 with a designed
annual production capacity of approximately 30,000
tonnes. The construction was completed in December
2007 and the commercial production commenced in
March 2008.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years (Continued)

Production lines nos. 8 to 11

In February 2008, we commenced the construction
of Production lines nos. 8 and 9 with a designated
annual production capacity of approximately 30,000
tonnes each. The construction was completed in late
2008 and the commercial production commenced in
March 2009 and April 2009 respectively.

In September 2008, the construction of Production
lines nos. 10 and 11 commenced. Each of the
production lines has a designated annual production
capacity of approximately 30,000 tonnes. The
construction was completed in September 2009 and
commercial production commenced in December
2009.

Production lines nos. 12 to 13

In August 2009, we commenced the construction of
Production lines nos. 12 and 13 with a designated
annual production capacity of approximately 30,000
tonnes each. By the end of 2009, these productions
lines were still under construction and the construction
is estimated to complete by mid 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years (Continued)

The following table sets forth our designed annual
production capacity as of the dates indicated.
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BEE)
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TREHIFAR B RARNEE R FERE -

As at 31 December

R+=—B=+—H
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in tonnes) (BhL M) —TTRF —TTF _TT+F _TT)\F _ZEZNF
Production line no(s). EEBRET
1,2,3 4 1,2,3,4 110,000 110,000 110,000 110,000 110,000
5 6 5,6 — 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
7 7 - — 30,000 30,000 30,000
8,9 8,9 — — — 60,000 60,000
10, 11 10, 11 _ — — — 60,000
12, 13 (note1) 12, 13 — — — — -
(H 1)

110,000 170,000 200,000 260,000 320,000
Notes: Bzt -
1. Construction was commenced in August 2009 and is 1, BIFIRCOCR-_ZTEZTNAFENAER  FH:R

estimated to complete by mid 2010.

Subsequent to the commencement of the commercial
operation of Production lines nos. 8 to 11 in 2009, the
aggregate designed annual production capacity of our
Group as at 31 December 2009 is 320,000 tonnes,
representing an increase by approximately 23.1% from
260,000 tonnes as at 31 December 2008.

ZE—TFFHRRT o

BEEFESEEFNREEER _ZZTNFE
ABELE AEBR_ZTEThLF+A
=+ —H®R R FER /320,000 - =
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23.1% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years (Continued)

Our Group believes that the increase in the production
capacity in recent years has strengthened our leading
market position and enhanced our competitiveness in
the market. Our Group’s plan to keep expanding the
production capacity was approved by IR & T3
PAZE (Shandong Province Light Industry Council*)
in January 2007 as one of the approved projects for
paper manufacturing industry in the PRC under AiER
TE+—AREDTHRS (The Outline for Development
of the Laminated Board Industry under the Eleventh
Five Year Plan*). We have already completed the
construction of Production line nos. 7 to 11 since
our listing and the commercial operation of these
production lines was commenced since March 2008.
Currently, another two new Production lines nos.
12 and 13, each with a deisnged annual capacity
of 30,000 tonnes, are under construction and the
construction is estimated to complete by mid 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years (Continued)

The increase of equipment utilisation rate

The following table illustrates information on the
utilisation rates and actual and planned hours of
operation for the production lines over the past years.

EEENWE DN

BEE)
MEERNRERE)

B 15 8 T E 49 10
TRERBEUFAEEE EERNER
BB RHBE N AR -

Year ended 31 December

BETZA=T-HLEE

2005 2006

“ZZIF —EEXRE ZETLF

2007

2008 2009
—EEINF ZZTRE

Actual  Planned  Equipment Actual  Planned Equipment Actual  Planned  Equipment Actual  Planned  Equipment Actual  Planned Equipment

Production hoursof ~ hoursof ~ Utiisation ~ hoursof ~ hoursof ~ Utiisation ~ hoursof ~ hours of
line no. operation  operation rate? operation  operation” rate? operation  operation!
R il & BB atEl B R al

EESRR  EEIE 2E0E) EARe 2E)E 2EIE FRE0 2E0E 2E)E0

Utiisation ~ hoursof ~ hoursof ~ Utilisation ~ hours of  hours of  Utilisation

rate? operation  operation! rate® operation operation” rate®
B -1 i B gKB g | #E

pRE EENE BRI FEE BEME BEIEY  ERZC

1 6,660 7,776 85.6% 7,558 7,776 97.2% 7872
2 6,840 7,776 88.0% 6,034 7,176 77.6%% 7,608
3 6,770 7,776 87.1% 7,294 7,776 93.8% 7,824
4 7,284 7,776 93.7% 7,740 7,176 99.5% 7872
5 5,033 5,8329 86.3% 7,920
6 5477 5,8329 93.9% 7,968
7

8

9

10

8,040
7,752
8,040
8,040
8,040
8,040

979% 8,023 8,208 97.7% 7,868 8,208 95.9%
98.1% 8,07 8,208 98.3% 8,015 8,208 97.6%
97.3% 8,003 8,208 97.6% 7,972 8,208 97.1%
979% 7,920 8,040 985% 7917 8,040 98.5%
98.5% 8,007 8,208 98.6% 8108 8,208 98.8%
99.1% 8,084 8,208 985% 8,091 8,208 98.6%
6,9609  7,176° 97.0% 8,091 8,208 98.6%

6,368° 6,528 97.5%"

6,007% 6,168 97.4%"°

443M 456" 97.1%"

3230 336" 96.1%"
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN®R DN

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years (Continued)
The increase of equipment utilisation rate

(Continued)
Notes:

(1)

Planned hours of operation takes into account, among
other things, planned maintenance shutdowns and
shutdowns for equipment optimisation.

Equipment utilisation rates represent the actual hours
of operation as a percentage of the planned hours of
operation.

Commercial operation of Production lines nos. 5 and 6
commenced in April 2006.

The decrease in the equipment utilisation rate is due to
the re-engineering works carried out in this production
line during the years.

Commercial operation of Production line no. 7
commenced in March 2008.

Commercial operation of Production lines nos. 8
and 9 commenced in March 2009 and April 2009,
respectively.

Commercial operation of Production lines nos. 10 and
11 commenced in December 2009.

The average age of the machinery and equipment is
approximately 3.7 years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW (Continued)

The expansion of production capacity in recent
years (Continued)

The increase of equipment utilisation rate
(Continued)

The production lines normally operate on a continuous
basis, subject to the temporary stoppage, as and
when necessary, for the purposes of machine cleaning,
recalibration for different product specifications as
well as regular inspection and maintenance work
which generally lasts for, in aggregate, 1 to 2 days
each month and an annual maintenance which lasts
for about a week. As increase or decrease in the
equipment utilisation rates will have an impact on
the product volume and, thus, can have a significant
effect on the unit costs and gross profit margins, we
therefore plan the production schedules carefully so
as to minimise the shutdown time required for making
adjustments to the paper making machines for product
and specification changes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the
average selling prices of the decorative base paper
products and printing paper product decreased by
approximately 8.3% from RMB13,236 per tonne
in 2008 to RMB12,142 per tonne in 2009 and
approximately 13.9% from RMB6,670 per tonne in
2008 to RMB5,744 per tonne in 2009, respectively.
Despite of this, the overall sales volumes increased by
approximately 10.0% from 133,213 tonnes in 2008 to
146,506 tonnes in 2009, out of which sales volumes
of the decorative base paper products increased by
approximately 16.3% from 92,564 tonnes for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to 107,667 tonnes
for the year ended 31 December 2009. As a result,
our turnover increased by approximately 2.3% from
RMB1,496.4 million in the year ended 31 December
2008 to RMB1,530.3 million in the year ended 31
December 2009.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales represents the production costs of
goods sold during the year. Our production costs
comprise costs of raw materials, direct labour
costs and manufacturing overheads, which include
depreciation charges, utility expenses, consumables,
repairs and maintenance and other overhead related
expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Cost of sales (Continued)

Cost of sales increased by approximately 1.3% from
RMB1,090.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2008 to RMB1,105.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2009. The increase in cost of sales
was primarily due to the combined effects of (i) an
increase in the aggregate raw material costs, which
are the major component of our cost of sales, as a
result of the increased sales volume, (ii) a decrease
in purchasing costs of wood pulp and titanium
dioxide powder, our principal raw materials for
production during the year ended 31 December 2009
(as discussed below), (iii) an increase in production
overheads, such as electricity and steam expenses,
in line with the increase in production volume; and
(iv) an increase in depreciation expenses due to the
commercial production of Production lines nos. 8 to
11 during the year.

Principal raw materials

Our results of operations are subject to price
fluctuations of raw materials used in the production
process. The principal raw materials for our production
are wood pulp and titanium dioxide powder.

For each of the two years ended 31 December 2008
and 2009, the purchase of wood pulp amounted to
approximately RMB472.7 million and RMB405.9 million,
respectively, representing approximately 43.3% and
36.7% of the total cost of sales for the respective
years. The decrease is due to the combined effect
of (i) an increase in usage of wood pulp, in line with
the increased sales volume; and (i) a decrease in the
average purchase price (value added tax inclusive) of
wood pulp by approximately 22.0% from approximately
RMB6,540 per tonne in 2008 to RMB5,104 per tonne
in 2009.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Cost of sales (Continued)

Principal raw materials (Continued)

For each of the two years ended 31 December
2008 and 2009, the purchase of titanium dioxide
powder amounted to approximately RMB303.8 million
and RMB314.3 million, respectively, representing
approximately 27.9% and 28.4% of the total cost of
sales for the respective years. The slight increase is
mainly due to the combined effect of (i) an increase
in the usage of titanium dioxide as a result of the
increased sales volume in decorative base paper
products; and (ii) a decrease in the average purchase
price (value added tax inclusive) of titanium dioxide by
approximately 7.2% from approximately RMB13,741
per tonne in 2008 to RMB12,747 per tonne in 2009.

Utilities and steam expenses

During the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2009,
our electricity and steam expenses increased by
approximately 11.9% from RMB124.6 million in 2008
to RMB139.4 million in 2009, which was mainly due
to the increase in production volume as a result of the
commercial operation of Production lines nos. 8 to 11
during the year. The electricity and steam expenses
accounted for approximately 11.4% and 12.6% of the
total cost of sales for the respective years.

Depreciation charges

During the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2009,
our depreciation charges included in cost of sales
increased by approximately 31.9% from RMB69.6
million in 2008 to RMB91.7 million in 2009, mainly due
to the commercial operation of Production lines nos. 8
to 11 in 2009.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of our Group increased by
approximately 4.8% from RMB405.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to RMB424.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2009, while the gross
profit margin improved from approximately 27.1% for
the year ended 31 December 2008 to approximately
27.8% for the year ended 31 December 2009.

The following table sets forth the gross profit margin of
each category of the products for the two years ended
31 December 2008 and 2009:
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EXRESTER D OHR @)
ERRERE

AEBEZEFNBEBEE-_ZTNF+ A
=+— B IEFE 2 AKR405,500,0007T 1%
M4 snEHEzE—_TEEZNF+_A=+—H
IFEFEE 2 AR #424,800,0007T * [F B E F| =
MBEE -EEN\F+-_A=1+—BIFEH
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H 1FF E #27.8%

TEMIIAEERBRE-_ST\5R_ZT
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Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-BLFE

2009 2008
Products EmR —EENEF —EE)N\F
Decorative base paper products ®&iEKER

— Premium coloured decorative — SEBEEEM
base paper R4 E 37.7% 36.7%

— Premium white decorative — BEEERH
base paper R4 E o 26.4% 27.2%

— Ordinary coloured decorative TRmECEM
base paper R4 E 26.4% 22.2%
Sub-total INEF 29.6% 29.1%
Printing paper product EN Rl A 4K 7= & 17.3% 17.8%

The increase in overall gross profit margin of our
decorative base paper products in 2009 was mainly
attributable to the increase in sales of our premium
decorative base paper products, which have higher
gross profit margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Other revenue and other net loss

Other revenue, which represented mainly interest
income earned from the bank deposits and financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss and
dividend income from listed securities, decreased by
approximately 89.4% from RMB41.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to RMB4.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2009. The decrease
was mainly due to the consequence of less cash
held on hand upon the payment of construction costs
for production lines and the persistently low interest
rate environment in the wake of the financial tsunami
such that interest income from deposits decreased by
approximately 90.0% from RMB40.1 million in 2008 to
RMB4.0 million in 2009.

In compliance with the financial management and
treasury policies, certain investments were made
using uncommitted funds. During the years ended 31
December 2008 and 2009, we recorded a net realised
and unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of RMB2.0 million and RMBO.1
million, respectively.

Selling expenses

As disclosed in the Prospectus, we planned to
strengthen our marketing activities. During the year
ended 31 December 2009, our Group increased its
sales and marketing staff to 46 and had carried out
various promotional activities in an attempt to solicit
new customers in the six designated sales regions in
the PRC. As a result, the selling expenses increased
by approximately 21.0% from RMB15.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to RMB19.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2009. As a percentage
of turnover, our selling expenses were maintained at
approximately 1.1% to 1.3% for each of the two years
ended 31 December 2009. This was in line with the
existing policy of our Group to allocate approximately
1.0% of the revenue from sales as the annual budget
for the marketing activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses consist primarily of
administrative and management staff salaries and
benefits, depreciation of non-production related fixed
assets, research and development costs, and pension
contributions.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately
6.3% from RMB32.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2008 to RMB34.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2009. The increase was mainly due to
the expansion of operations during the year where
additional supportive staff were employed such that
the administrative staff costs, employee benefits and
pension expenses increased by approximately 6.2%
from RMBS8.1 million in the year ended 31 December
2008 to RMB8.6 million in the year ended 31
December 2009.

Finance costs

Finance costs consist primarily of interest expenses
on the bank borrowings. The amount decreased by
approximately 68.4% from RMB13.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to RMB4.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2009 due to the
repayment of bank borrowings during the year.

Income tax
Members of the Group are incorporated in different
jurisdictions, with different taxation requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR
COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Shandong QX, our principal operating subsidiary in the
PRC, had been exempted from PRC income tax for
the two years from 1 January 2007 to 31 December
2008, followed by a reduced PRC income tax rate at
12.5% for the remaining three years from 1 January
2009 to 31 December 2011 under the grandfathering
treatments of the Corporate Income Tax Law of the
PRC passed on 16 March 2007. As such, our Group
is not liable to pay any income tax in the PRC for the
year ended 31 December 2008, while Shandong QX
is subject to an income tax rate of 12.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2009.

No provision has been made for Hong Kong Profits
Tax for 2008 and 2009 as the Group did not earn
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax
for either year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM
DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR REXEETERD WER (&)

COMPONENTS OF THE RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The effective tax rates of our Group for the years
ended 31 December 2008 and 2009 were 0.0% and

FR8Bl(&)

AEEBE_ZEZTENFR-ZTTNF+-A
ST —HBEFEZEBRBESD A R0.0%K
128% - REABEFE ST HE

12.8% respectively, The reconciliation between income
tax expenses and accounting profit at the applicable

tax rates was set out as follows:

AHm Az HRR T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-BLHFE

2009 2008
—EEAEF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AR For
Profit before taxation B Bt A1 % Al 371,694 383,361
Income tax on profit before EHEBRE AR EB
taxation, calculated at the tax MR FTE 2 bR A R R
rates applicable in the respective Fris®i
tax jurisdictions concerned 93,706 96,882
Tax effect of tax concession period MG EBAM BT E (49,040) (100,001)
Tax effect of non-deductible TR A 2 G &
expenses 1,981 3,739
Tax effect of non-taxable income IEERMMA BB E (103) (620)
Tax effect of unused tax loss FIEEFRIE B &R HER
not recognised for deferred tax REABFE R 2 G5
purposes 1,063 —
Income tax expenses for FEMSHBEX
the year 47,607 —
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEMKLE R
The following table sets forth certain financial ratios of TRIAXREBR TIMRBE BB EZB
our Group as of the date or for the year indicated. IFFERE TR R -
As of or for the years ended
31 December
R+=ZBA=+—HB=
BEZALEE

Note 2009 2008

B aF —EENEF —ZTT)\F
Profitability ratios BRIEDLEE
Gross profit margin E M 1 27.8% 27.1%
Net profit margin F o Al & 2 21.2% 25.6%
Return on assets BERRE 3 12.8% 14.3%
Return on equity E 2= [0 3 & 4 13.2% 17.2%
Liquidity ratios REBESHL=E
Current ratio ik = 5 10.1 3.7
Quick ratio B X 6 9.7 3.6
Gearing ratio BEEBRLE 7 0% 4.6%
Inventory turnover days FER&EXEH 8 16 18
Debtors’ turnover days JiE U BR B B K 2K 9 7 9
Creditors’ turnover days JE 1<J R A 88 K & 10 20 37
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS (Continued)

Notes:

10.

Gross profit margin is calculated based on the gross
profit divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%.

Net profit margin is calculated based on the profit for
the year divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%.

Return on assets is calculated based on the profit for
the year divided by the total assets at the end of the
year and multiplied by 100%.

Return on equity is calculated based on the profit for
the year divided by capital and reserves at the end of
the year and multiplied by 100%.

Current ratio is calculated based on the total current
assets divided by the total current liabilities at the end
of the year.

Quick ratio is calculated based on the difference
between the total current assets and the inventories
divided by the total current liabilities at the end of the
year.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total bank
borrowings divided by total assets and multiplied by
100%.

Inventory turnover days is calculated based on the
inventory at the end of the year divided by the total
purchases during the year and multiplied by the
number of days during the year.

Debtors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade
receivables at the end of the year divided by turnover
during the year and multiplied by the number of days
during the year.

Creditors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade
payables at the end of the year divided by the total
purchases during the year and multiplied by the
number of days during the year.
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1. FEFEUEFG AL EBEIUI00%TE -

2. FRMEUAFEZFBRILEEHBEMN
100%&t & °

3. BELBNRIEUAFEGNBRAFREELE

T LA100%:HE o
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&R A100%5T & -
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BEEEFHE -
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T LA100%:H & -

8. HFEABXBUFREERUAFERER
BRNAFEERARBGE -

9. RBUEERFBERBIAFRERERRRARSE
EE2EBRAAFEARLE -

10. B RR B & R BUAF KRB BR FRER AR F
ERBEBRRUANRNFEARBGE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS (Continued)

Analysis on Selected Financial Ratios

Current and quick ratios

The current ratio of our Group increased from
3.7 as at 31 December 2008 to 10.1 as at 31
December 2009 and the quick ratio of our Group
increased from 3.6 as at 31 December 2008 to 9.7
as at 31 December 2009, respectively, which were
mainly attributable to the combined effects of (i) the
repayment of short-term bank loans of RMB124.0
million during the year; and (ii) the settlement of
construction costs for Production lines nos. 8 to 11
during the year ended 31 December 2009.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2009, the Group did not have
any outstanding bank borrowings (2008: RMB124.0
million). The gearing ratio was therefore decreased
from approximately 4.6% as at 31 December 2008 to
0% as at 31 December 2009.

Return on assets

The return on assets decreased from 14.3% for the
year ended 31 December 2008 to 12.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2009. The decrease in return on
assets for the year ended 31 December 2009 was
mainly attributable to the decrease in other revenue
(discussed above under the header “other revenue and
net loss”) arisen from non-core operations and also the
commencement to pay PRC income tax at a reduced
tax rate of 12.5% since 2009 (discussed above under
the header “income tax”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS (Continued)

Analysis on Selected Financial Ratios (Continued)
Return on equity

The return on equity for the years ended 31 December
2008 and 2009 were approximately 17.2% and 13.2%
respectively. The decrease in return on equity for the
year ended 31 December 2009 was mainly attributable
to the decrease in other revenue arisen from non-
core operations and the commencement to pay PRC
income tax at a reduced tax rate of 12.5% since
2009.

Inventories and the inventory turnover days

Our inventory level decreased by approximately
14.4% from approximately RMB43.6 million as at 31
December 2008 to approximately RMB37.3 million
as at 31 December 2009. The inventory turnover
days decreased from 18 days for the year ended 31
December 2008 to 16 days for the year ended 31
December 2009. The improvement was mainly due to
the effective implementation of inventory control policy
and measures over the past years.

It is our Group’s practice to purchase sufficient
amount of raw materials based on the production
schedule and to keep one week’s inventory of raw
materials in storage. For finished products, it is our
Group’s practice to keep minimal stock of finished
products in our storage warehouse to satisfy any
customer’s urgent demand. Our Group may also keep
reserve stock of finished products at times when the
market demand for decorative base paper makes it
prudent to do so.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS (Continued)

Analysis on Selected Financial Ratios (Continued)
Trade receivables and debtors’ turnover days
Our Group normally requires the customers to settle
the invoices by cash on delivery. The granting of
credit to customers is assessed on a case-by-case
basis and our Group may generally grant credit terms
of 3 to 20 days on a rolling basis to the customers,
depending on whom our Group has maintained a
longer business relationship.

The trade receivables balance decreased by
approximately 22.0% from approximately RMB37.8
million as at 31 December 2008 to RMB29.5
million as at 31 December 2009. The decrease in
trade receivables as at 31 December 2009 mainly
attributable to our Group’s tightened credit control
on customers to minimise the outstanding balance
receivable, such that our exposure to the credit risk
from trade debtors could be reduced. Such measure
continued to be carried out effectively during the year
and as a result, the debtors’ turnover days decreased
further from 9 days for the year ended 31 December
2008 to 7 days for the year ended 31 December
2009.

Trade payables and creditors’ turnover days
Qur trade payables balance decreased by
approximately 49.0% from RMB89.3 million as at
31 December 2008 to RMB45.5 million as at 31
December 2009. The credit periods granted by
various suppliers generally range from 3 days to 30
days. The creditors’ turnover days were 37 and 20
for each of the year ended 31 December 2008 and
2009, respectively. It is our Group’s policy to settle all
of the outstanding balances with the suppliers within
the maximum credit period granted so as to maintain
the relationships with the respective suppliers. We
purchased raw materials in line with our production
needs and the fluctuation in creditors’ turnover days is
affected by our purchase based on production plans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The financial resources of the Group continued to be
strong. As at 31 December 2009, shareholders’ fund
of the Group totalled RMB2,452.3 million, representing
an increase of approximately 9.7% from RMB2,235.2
million at 31 December 2008. The Group had cash
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB682.8
million as at 31 December 2009 (31 December
2008: RMB1,539.4 million), after the payment of
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008
and interim dividend for the six months ended 30
June 2009 of RMB77.0 million and RMB29.8 million,
respectively, during the year.

The Group continues to enjoy a stable and strong net
cash inflow from operations. During the years ended
31 December 2008 and 2009, the net cash generated
from operations was RMB460.6 million and RMB432.0
million, respectively.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND
TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment of uncommitted funds
with an objective of enhancing the practicable returns
for shareholders and maintaining adequate liquidity
and preservation of capital. The Group’s financing and
treasury activities are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level and aim to ensure that adequate
financial resources are available for refinancing and
business growth. The Group reviews its liquidity and
financing arrangements periodically.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk
to ensure there are no undue exposures to significant
interest rate movements and rates are approximately
fixed. As at 31 December 2009, the Group did not
have any bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND
TREASURY POLICIES (Continued)

The Group conducts its business transactions
principally in the PRC. All of the Group’s turnover
and cost of sales and most of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. RMB
is the functional currency of the Group’s principal
operating subsidiary and used as the reporting
currency in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. As such, the
fluctuation of RMB against foreign currencies during
the years did not have significant impact on the results
of the Group.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the
Group recorded aggregate additions to property,
plant and equipment and construction in progress
and prepayments for the acquisition of plant and
equipment of approximately RMB939.4 million (2008:
RMB434.8 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES
AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The Group will further invest to expand the production
capacity and re-engineering and modify the existing
production facilities to enhance production efficiency.
Part of such capital commitments will be financed
by the net proceeds received from the initial public
offering on 2 October 2007. For details, please refer
to the paragraph “Use of proceeds from Initial Public
Offering”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES
AND CHARGE ON ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has environmental contingencies under
the increasingly stringent environmental protection
laws and regulations in the PRC. However, as at
the date hereof, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure for environmental remediation
and is currently not involved in any environmental
remediation. In addition, the outcome of environmental
liabilities under proposed or future environmental
legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at present.
As such, the Group has not accrued any amounts for
environmental remediation relating to its operations.
Saved as disclosed above, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2009.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group did not have
any property, plant and equipment secured for any
borrowings (2008: RMB225.2 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING

Upon the initial public offering of the Company on 2
October 2007 (the “Listing Date”), the Group received
net proceeds amounted to approximately HK$1,492.8
million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,445.5
million), after deduction of related expenses and the
exercise of Over-allotment Option (Note 1) on the
Listing Date. As disclosed in the Prospectus, our
Group planned to apply most of the net proceeds
to expand our production capacity as well as to re-
engineer and modify our existing production facilities
to enhance production efficiency. As at 31 December
2009, part of the net proceeds had been applied as
follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DM

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL

PUBLIC OFFERING (Continued)

BRXARBEMER

Amount
utilised up to
31 December

BARBRME)

Balance as at
31 December

2009 2009
Planned BEZ-ZEZh & R=-ZBZELE
amount +—A=+—-H +ZA=+-—H
B EFEASHE Z i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AR T T AR T T
Settlement of the XN RBESTHR
remaining balance of EEFRBRI
the construction
costs of Production
line no. 7 163,300 163,300 —
Construction of BB EIEF115E
Production lines K ER
nos. 8 to 11 720,000 720,000 —
Construction of new EEFE12E F135
Production lines NHEER
nos. 12 to 13 (Hiit2)
(Note 2) 360,000 218,200 141,800
Re-engineering and EERAEFEIE
modification of the EIRIRA
existing Production HEF
lines nos. 1 and 3 40,000 — 40,000
1,283,300 1,101,500 181,800
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING (Continued)

Notes:

1. Pursuant to an international placing underwriting
agreement dated 20 September 2007, the Company
granted an option (the “Over-allotment Option”) to
ICEA Securities Limited (“ICEA”), the lead manager
of the Company’s share offer, whereby the Company
was required to allot and issue up to an aggregate
45,000,000 additional shares to cover over allocations
in the international placing. The exercise price per
share for the Over-allotment Option was HK$5.35.
On the Listing Date, the Over-allotment Option was
fully exercised by ICEA and, as a result, the Company
issued 45,000,000 additional shares on the same date.

2. As disclosed in the Prospectus, in the event that
the Over-allotment Option is exercised, our Group
planned to apply part of the additional net proceeds of
RMB360.0 million for doubling the production capacity
of the planned new Production lines nos. 10 to 11
from 60,000 tonnes to 120,000 tonnes. The Over-
allotment Option was exercised on the Listing Date and
our Group decided to further increase our production
capacity by 60,000 tonnes by way of constructing two
more Production lines nos. 12 to 13.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2009, our Group employed
approximately 1,400 employees in the PRC and Hong
Kong. Key components of the Group’s remuneration
packages include basic salary, medical insurance,
discretionary cash bonus and retirement benefit
scheme. Promotion and salary increments are
assessed based on a performance related basis.

The Group has neither experienced any significant
problems with its employees or disruptions to
its operations due to labour disputes, nor has it
experienced any difficulties in the recruitment and
retention of experienced employees. The Group
maintains a good working relationship with its
employees.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESEREREEEBE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo, aged 54, is the co-founder of
QX Group. Dr. Zhu was appointed as an executive
Director and a chairman of the Board in September
2006. He is a director of various subsidiaries and
associated corporations of the Company. He is also
a director of Boom Instant Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. He is responsible for
overseeing and planning the business strategies of
the Group. Dr. Zhu completed tertiary education with
major in corporate management in Shandong Province
Economic Management Official Institute* in the PRC
in April 1992. Prior to the incorporation of Shandong
QX, which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Dr. Zhu had been engaged in work relating
to the manufacture of paper manufacturing machinery
parts for over 10 years during which he also studied
the features of different types of paper products and
has accumulated extensive experience and knowledge
in paper manufacturing industry. In 1990, Dr. Zhu
was appraised as an economist by Zouping County
Science and Technology Committee*. In July 2003,
he was honoured by Shandong Provincial People’s
Government as “Outstanding Private Entrepreneur
in Shandong Province, the PRC*”. In January 2007,
Dr. Zhu was hired by the Information Management
Institute of Shandong Economic Institute as a part-
time professor. In November 2007, Dr. Zhu received
the “World Outstanding Chinese Award” from the
World Outstanding Chinese Association and World
Chinese Business Investment Foundation. He was also
conferred with Honorary Doctoral Degree from Sinte
Gleska University of California. In 2009, Dr. Zhu was
conferred as one of the “Outstanding Entrepreneur
of Papermaking Industry in China”* by China Paper
Association. Dr. Zhu is the spouse of Ms. Sun Rui
Fang, a non-executive Director, and the father of
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun, a vice-chairman of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun, aged 30, is the co-founder of QX
Group. He was appointed as an executive Director,
a general manager of the Company as well as a
vice-chairman of the Board in September 2006. He
is a director of various subsidiaries and associated
corporations of the Company. He is also a director
of Boom Instant Limited, a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Mr. Zhu is responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s business. He completed
tertiary legal education in Shandong Province Political
& Legal Management Official Institute* in the PRC in
July 2001. In 2004, he was awarded with the title
of International Professional Manager by International
Managers Union. In January 2005, he was approved
by China Human Resource Exchange Centre* to
become a member of database of experts in the
PRC. The database is known as “National Database
of Human Resources in Business Operation and
Management*” which stores the information of senior
enterprise administrators. In 2005, he was appraised
as one of the “Ten Outstanding Entrepreneurs
in Shandong*” by Appraisal Committee for Ten
Outstanding Entrepreneurs in Shandong*. In April
2006, he was honoured jointly by Binzhou City
Committee of the Communist Youth League* and State
Economic and Trade Commission in Binzhou City* as
“Outstanding Young Entrepreneur in Binzhou City*”.
Mr. Zhu is the son of Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, a chairman of
the Board, and Ms. Sun Rui Fang, a non-executive
Director.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESEREREEEBE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SUN Zhen Shui, aged 55, was appointed
as an executive Director in September 2007. Mr.
Sun is responsible for managing the financial and
administrative affairs of the Group. He completed
tertiary education in business management in
Shandong Province Economic Management Official
Institute* in the PRC in May 1994 and obtained from
Shandong Province Binzhou District Professional Title
Reform Leader Group® a qualification as a qualified
accountant in the PRC in December 1994. Mr. Sun
has been a supervising accountant of Changshan
Town Economy Committee* for a period from 1983
to 2004. He has over 20 years of experiences in the
financial field.

Non-executive Director

Ms. SUN Rui Fang, aged 54, was appointed as
a non-executive Director in September 2007. She
is a director of various subsidiaries and associated
corporations of the Company. She is also a director
of Boom Instant Limited, a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Prior to such appointment, Ms. Sun
had, since the inception of Shandong QX, assisted
Dr. Zhu Yu Zuo, a chairman of the Board and
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun, a vice-chairman of the Board, in
attending general administrative works of Shandong
QX. Ms. Sun is the spouse of Dr. Zhu Yu Guo and the
mother of Mr. Zhu Mo Qun.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Wei, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September
2007. Mr. Zhao completed tertiary education in Dalian
Institute of Light Industry (now known as “Dalian
Polytechnic University”) in the PRC in June 1982,
majoring in paper manufacturing. Mr. Zhao became
a senior engineer accredited by China Light Industry
Association* in December 1993 and is now the vice-
president and general secretary of China Paper
Association. Mr. Zhao has been a member of the Food
and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
since 2007. Mr. Zhao has also been a deputy chief
member of the Nationwide Paper Making Industry
Standardized Technology Committee since 2006.

Mr. Zhao is currently an independent director of
Guangdong Guanhao High-Tech Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC.
Mr. Zhao is also a non-executive director of Shandong
Chenming Paper Holdings Limited*, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhao
has accumulated approximately 27 years of experience
in the paper making industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESEREREEEBE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Mr. WANG Lu, aged 29, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September
2007. He graduated from Shandong University in the
PRC in July 2003 with a degree in computer science
and technology and subsequently obtained a master’s
degree in information technology from Monash
University in Australia in October 2005. He has been a
lecturer of a university in the PRC. He currently works
as engineer at YanTai University in the PRC. Mr. Wang
has approximately 6 years of experience in computer
engineering.

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong, aged 44, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in
September 2007. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of China
Investment Fund Company Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a
chief financial officer of Verdure International Holding
Company Limited. Mr. Kwong has over 20 years of
experience in management accounting and financial
control.

50 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited

HEARZEZERARAT

EE#)

BIYPTES(E)

ITREE 295 R_ZEZTLtFNAEZAE
BEUFRTESE BR_TT=FtAE
ERFPRLEARSE BB EREIS2HY
M WHEENR_-_ZSZSHEF+ AR EM
Monash University & B {5 B #1718 = 27 o
BEAEFRE—BRNEAER - FREFNPE
EaXSETIEM TEERERIRES
H B H6E 2 188 -

BEERE 44 N_ZETLFNAEZR
ERBIUBITES - HARBRKIFLARE
AN EEREE BAEGHMASEER
REFHEESMAEER - AR /K
RERLETRABFEREESER QAN
BYFRTES  UNRBEFERZERERAQ
Az BRE BEtERNEESA MY KE
27 E A E20F 2 K5 -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SUN Shu Guang, aged 56, joined the Group as
a deputy general manager and the head of finance
department of Shandong QX in April 2003, and is
responsible for the Group’s financial management
function in the PRC. Mr. Sun completed tertiary
education in Shandong Province Communist Party
School* in the PRC in December 1994, majoring in
economic administration. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Sun had worked in the economic authorities of
the PRC government. He has extensive experience in
corporate management.

Mr. LIU Shu Li, aged 54, joined the Group as a
deputy general manager of Shandong QX in August
2003 and is responsible for the Group’s administrative
affairs. Mr. Liu completed tertiary education in National
Judicial Official Amateur Legal University* in the PRC
in August 1994, majoring in law. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Liu performed military service at the
General Administration of Civil Aviation of China and
was given a title of senior engineer. He had also
worked in the judicial authority of the PRC government
and is experienced in legal matters.

Mr. POON Tsz Hang, aged 32, was appointed
as financial controller of the Company in May 2009
and is responsible for the Group’s overall financial
management, accounting and investor relations.
Mr. Poon graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy.
Mr. Poon is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to joining the
Group in December 2007, Mr. Poon worked with an
international accounting firm. He has over 10 years of
experience in auditing and accounting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESEREREEEBE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. LAM Wai Yee, Sophie, aged 34, joined the
Group in January 2008 and was appointed as
company secretary of the Company in May 2009.
Ms. Lam is responsible for the Group’s corporate
services including compliance, company secretarial,
human resources and corporate communications.
Ms. Lam holds a bachelor’'s degree in translation and
a postgraduate diploma in corporate administration
from City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Lam is also
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. She has over 10
years of experience in compliance and company
secretarial profession.
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The Board has pleasure in submitting the annual
report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of QX Group for the year ended
31 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2009 are set out
in note 14 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2009 are set out in the consolidated
income statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2009 in scrip form equivalent to HK7.403 cents
(2008: HK8.45 cents) per share to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Wednesday, 5 May 2010 (the Scrip
Dividend Scheme”). Together with the interim dividend
of HKB.277 cents (2008: HK4.16 cents) per share paid
on 18 September 2009, the total dividends per share
for the year ended 31 December 2009 will thus be
HK10.68 cents per share (2008: HK12.61 cents).
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FINAL DIVIDEND (Continued)

The number of new shares (“Scrip Shares”) to be
allotted and issued under the Scrip Dividend Scheme
will be calculated on the basis of the average closing
price per share of the Company on the Stock
Exchange for the 5 consecutive trading days from
Thursday, 29 April 2010 to Wednesday, 5 May 2010,
less a discount of 5%.

Subject to (i) the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on Wednesday, 5 May 2010;
and (ii) the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
granting listing of and permission to deal in Scrip
Shares, the relevant share certificates for Scrip Shares
will be despatched to shareholders on or about
Tuesday, 8 June 2010.

A circular containing details of the Scrip Dividend
Scheme will be sent to shareholders on or about
Wednesday, 31 March 2010.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 29 April 2010 to Wednesday,
5 May 2010, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 26/F,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
28 April 2010.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity on page 94 of this annual report
and note 24 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at
31 December 2009 are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2009, the Company’s reserve
available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB1,364.0 million,
of which approximately RMB67.4 million has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to
the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Chairman)® *

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Vice-chairman)? #
Mr. SUN Zhen Shui*

Non-executive Director
Ms. SUN Rui Fang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHAO Wei' 2 3

Mr. WANG Lu" 23

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong' 23

Notes:

1. Member of Audit Committee

2. Member of Nomination Committee
3. Member of Remuneration Committee
4, Member of Executive Committee

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of
Association, Messrs. Zhu Mo Qun, Sun Zhen Shui
and Kwong Kwan Tong will retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of
3 years.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(Continued)

The non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors are appointed for a period of 2
years in accordance with their respective appointment
letters. During the year, their appointments have been
renewed for 2 years upon their respective expiry, on
substantially the same terms.

The Directors shall retire by rotation and be eligible
for re-election subject to Article 108 of the Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save for transactions as set out in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below, none of the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors and their
respective associates has engaged in or had an
interest in a business, which, directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors during the
year are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2009, the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company was 1,032,800,000;
and the interests of the Directors in the shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, were set out below:

Long Positions in Shares of the Company

ESHM
EENFANFHFBRNT BRI ES -

EERARAREBEBEERONESR

RZZEZNAF+_A=+—H AR2FHE
BTEBEAREE 51,032,800,000% : MES
RARAR REEEEBE(AEZESHSRBEED
EXVEIMRE)NRO P HEBRIEE %&Hﬁ
EIEPIEIEBEE R AR ABETNE
MAEZ  IRBEETAENSEAR
REE R =S INAT

REQATARBHER

Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held shareholding

E=E8 B REEMtE BENEERBE RENBOEIHL

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo Interest of controlled corporation 700,000,000 67.78%
KEBEEL XEH QR ER (Note)
(B1:)

Ms. SUN Rui Fang Interest of spouse 700,000,000 67.78%
Ryt foBrEm (Note)
(B7)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (Continued)

Note:

All these shares were beneficially owned by Boom Instant
Limited which was owned as to 80% by Addinsight Limited.
By virtue of his 87.5% direct interest in Addinsight Limited,
Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board, was deemed to
be interested in the same parcel of shares owned by Boom
Instant Limited under the SFO.

Ms. Sun Rui Fang, an non-executive Director and the spouse
of Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, was deemed to be interested in the
same parcel of shares as Dr. Zhu under the SFO.

These shares were same as those shares held by Boom
Instant Limited as disclosed in the section headed
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares of the
Company” below.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (Continued)

Long position in Shares of Associated
Corporations of the Company

EERAQAREEBEER D NE

(%)

RAERTHEBEERODOETR

Approximate

Number of percentage
Name of ordinary shares of the issued
associated Capacity/Nature held ordinary shares
Name of Director corporation of interest BEEN HERITEBERNG
EEEB HBEIEER 516 #BHE ZRERHE BHOBED
Dr. ZHU Yu Zuo Boom Instant Interest of controlled 80 80%
KEEBL Limited corporation
4 2 7 2
Addinsight Beneficial owner/ 87.5/12.5 87.5%/12.5%
Limited Interest of spouse
ExnBEBA/BEER
Ms. SUN Rui Fang  Boom Instant Interest of spouse 80 80%
BInJs Lt Limited [ E
Addinsight Beneficial owner/ 12.5/87.5 12.5%/87.5%
Limited Interest of spouse
ExnBBEA/BEER
Mr. ZHU Mo Qun Boom Instant Interest of controlled 20 20%
KREBRLA Limited corporation (Note)
RS AR (Htaz)
Be Broad Beneficial owner 100 100%
Limited EnEBA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OF
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (Continued)

Note:

All these shares were beneficially owned by Be Broad
Limited. By virtue of his 100% direct interest in Be Broad
Limited, Mr. Zhu Mo Qun, a vice-chairman of the Board,
was deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares
in Boom Instant Limited held by Be Broad Limited under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009,
none of the Directors has interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or other associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year, was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisitions of shares or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of
the Directors or their spouse or children under age
of 18, had any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such right during the
year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2009, the interests of substantial
shareholders and other persons (other than the
Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded
in the register of the Company required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company, were set out below:

FERRRARARGHER

R_ZEZNF+A=+—HB BEIEFK
HE R DI £336 1 EFN AR A E MR
BR(HARAEHNE)  TEMREEMAL
(EEBRIMDREARBRMDOEREHIIMT :

Approximate

percentage
Number of of the issued
Name of substantial ordinary shares ordinary shares
shareholder held {HhERITEBERN
TERRER BENEEREE BMABDL
Boom Instant Limited 700,000,000 67.78%
(Note 1)
(Htat1)
Addinsight Limited 700,000,000 67.78%
(Note 1)
(Wiat1)
The Overlook Partners’ Fund L.P. 62,032,000 6.01%
(Note 2)
(Wit2)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Notes:

1. All these shares were beneficially owned by Boom
Instant Limited. By virtue of its 80% direct interest in
Boom Instant Limited, Addinsight Limited was deemed
to be interested in the same parcel of shares held by
Boom Instant Limited under the SFO. Dr. Zhu Yu Zuo,
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun and Ms. Sun Rui Fang are the
directors of both Boom Instant Limited and Addinsight
Limited.

2. All these shares were beneficially owned by The
Overlook Partners’ Fund L.P..

Overlook Investments L.P., in its capacity as the
general partner of The Overlook Partners’ Fund L.P.,
and Overlook Investments (BVI) Limited, in its capacity
as the general partner of Overlook Investments L.P.,
were deemed to be interested in such shares under
the SFO.

By virtue of their 100% indirect interest in Overlook
Investments (BVI) Limited, Mr. Richard Hurd Lawrence
JR. and Mrs. Dee Macleod Lawrence were deemed
to be interested in the same parcel of shares as
Overlook Investments (BVI) Limited in accordance with
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009,
no other persons (other than the Directors) were
recorded in the register of the Company required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO as having interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
8 September 2007 whereby any Directors or selected
participants may be granted options to subscribe for
the Company’s shares at the discretion of the Board.
The principal terms of the scheme are summarised in
note 28 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions entered into by the

Group during the year ended 31 December 2009 are

disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

During the year, the Group has entered into the

following connected transaction and continuing

connected transaction as defined under the Listing

Rules:

(1)

Connected Transaction

Acquisition of Tongliao Changxing Wind
Power Co., Ltd.* (the “Target Company”)
As disclosed in an announcement of the
Company dated 24 September 2009, on even
date, Shandong QX as purchaser has entered
into a conditional acquisition agreement (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) with both Mr. Zhu Mo
Qun and Ms. Sun Rui Fang, the Directors, as
vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase the Target
Company by acquiring its entire registered
capital and shareholders’ loan at a maximum
consideration of not exceeding RMB563.5 million.

Since the Vendors are the Directors and hence
are the connected persons of the Company,
the Acquisition Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted connected
transactions for the purpose of the Listing Rules
and were subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements
as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1)

)

Connected Transaction (Continued)
Acquisition of Tongliao Changxing Wind
Power Co., Ltd.* (the “Target Company”)
(Continued)

The Acquisition Agreement was not approved by
the independent shareholders at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on
3 November 2009. As the approval of the
independent shareholders is one of the conditions
precedent to the completion of the Acquisition
Agreement, the Acquisition Agreement was
lapsed on even date.

Continuing Connected Transaction

Supply of Decorative Base Paper Products
to Zouping Guang Hua Veneer Company
Limited (“Guang Hua”)

A master supply agreement (the “Master Supply
Agreement”) dated 3 September 2007 was
entered into between Shandong QX as supplier
and Guang Hua as customer pursuant to which,
Shandong QX agreed to supply decorative base
paper products to Guang Hua for a period from
3 September 2007 to 31 December 2009 at
prices determined from time to time by Shandong
QX and Guang Hua at the prevailing market
prices of decorative base paper products and on
such other standard terms of sale and purchase
applicable from time to time, provided that such
terms were on normal and usual commercial
terms and were no more favourable than those
applicable to the sale of the same type and
quality of decorative base paper products for
comparable quantity by the Group to independent
third parties (the “Continuing Connected
Transaction”). The Master Supply Agreement does
not provide for renewal clauses.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2) Continuing Connected Transaction

(Continued)

Supply of Decorative Base Paper Products
to Zouping Guang Hua Veneer Company
Limited (“Guang Hua”) (Continued)

The annual caps of the Master Supply Agreement
for each of the three years ended 31 December
2009 are RMB7.3 million, RMB7.5 million and
RMB7.8 million respectively. During the year,
Shandong QX and Guang Hua have not carried
out any transactions in relation to the supply of
decorative base paper products under the Master
Supply Agreement. As such, no transaction value
thereof was incurred.

As the entire equity interest of Guang Hua was
owned by Jumbo Bonus Investments Limited
(“Jumbo Bonus”) which was in turn owned by Dr.
Zhu Yu Guo, Mr. Zhu Mo Qun and Ms. Sun Rui
Fang, the Directors, as to 70%, 20% and 10%
respectively, Guang Hua is a connected person
of the Company and the Continuing Connected
Transaction constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transaction of the Company under the
Listing Rules and was subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but was exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under the Listing Rules. The Stock
Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company
to exempt the transaction from strict compliance
with the announcement requirements under the
Listing Rules until 31 December 2009.

The Master Supply Agreement expired on 31
December 2009 and was not renewed.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2) Continuing Connected Transaction

(Continued)

All the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed and confirmed that there were no
transactions between Shandong QX and Guang
Hua under the Master Supply Agreement during
the year and no transaction value thereof was
incurred.

The Directors have requested KPMG, the auditors
of the Company, to perform certain agreed
upon procedures on the Continuing Connected
Transaction. However, as the Directors confirmed
that there were no transactions between
Shandong QX and Guang Hua under the Master
Supply Agreement during the year, KPMG have
issued a report to the Board confirming that the
required procedures pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of
the Listing Rules could not be performed.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

Through the issue of 1,045,000,000 new shares
at HK$5.35 each on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange in October 2007, the Group had raised
approximately HK$1,492.8 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,445.5 million), after deduction of
related expenses. The use of such proceeds by the
Group during the year is set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 43 to 45 of this
annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on pages 190 to 192 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes adopted by the
Group during the year are set out in note 6 to the
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and
purchases attributable to the major customers and
suppliers respectively during the year was as follows:

BEXARBEMSRERE

BBAR-_TSTELFTAEBIAERNER
5.35/% JT % 771,045,000,000 8% 1 i& 17 » A &
& 72 0Bk A 8 B 2 1% %15 491,492,800,000/%8
TC (490 E N A R ¥1,445,500,0007T) ° A&
ERFRNEZEMSRENBARIRRNANF R
FBAIELSEBEEARE DN -

EFEERE
AEBRBERABEMREENEEEREEN
BEERMEHNAFREI10E192E -

IR 4F 3 B
7R SR [ 0 R O BR AR B AR ARG B FE IS BN B A
R RE6

TEREFRHEER

BERASEIEEP LEEANFERD B
MHERMRBENERDOT

Percentage of the Group’s total

HAEEESE
Sales Purchases
MEHER BB
The largest customer S PNES S 14.6% —
Five largest customers in aggregate A AEF A&t 25.8% —
The largest supplier & ANHEER — 23.4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEREE — 66.1%
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year have the Directors, their
respective associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules during the year and
up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the
Company had complied with the applicable Code
Provisions save for the deviation from the Code
Provision A.2.1. The full details of corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2009, or where
applicable, up to the date of this annual report, are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 70
to 84 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment
as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ZHU Yu Guo %k EHE
Chairman /&

Shandong, the PRC, 17 March 2010
REWE  —F-2F=A++A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERES

FEEFRHER @)

REATMER MEEE RES EE’J
SASREMARESAANHEBBEINAR
BITRANERBBRRR Aﬁfzzg)f&ﬁ\
Eﬁ%ﬁ&ﬂf”\ °

RANRERE
BRERAQBRAREEMSNERREES
PRA > RARRFARBEERNFERBHL -
—HARLETRAUMEENARFTRE -

#*
i
B
3
i

—EEAFFT_A=+—HLEFE XK
—E 7@ A S RE (R BE < B g S
2UERIN) c RRAREBEZTTNLF
A=Z+—BLEFEXEEAFHRA (W0
VRN EEERERNMEFEH
FIRBIOESAEM B EEAREN

PO RS
al ]

oo+ W
>

%El\

= ED

ESHEHMEKMEREERE HEXRTEE
E%%'fi°$@ﬂﬂﬂﬁéﬂﬂﬁﬂmﬁﬂ%ﬂx$@$
RELREEHERESHETMELTAR
RRBZEENZRER ©

Annual Report 2009 69
“EENEER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREABE

QX Paper is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices and corporate
conduct. It is the belief of the Board that such
commitment can enhance the performance of the
Group and serve to enhance our shareholders’ value.
To this end, the Board and our management will
make continuous effort to reinforce our standards of
corporate governance with emphasis on independence,
effective internal control, transparency and
accountability to shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the
Company has complied with the applicable Code
Provisions and principles under the CG Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except for the
following deviation:

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.
Currently, the Company does not have any person
holding the title of CEO. Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, who
apart from being the Company’s major shareholder,
executive Director and chairman of the Board, also
assumed responsibilities which are comparable to
those of a CEO. Dr. Zhu is responsible for overseeing
and planning the business strategies of the Group
as well as providing leadership and management to
the Board. The role of the chairman is separated
from that of the general manager of the Company.
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun (the son of Dr. Zhu), an executive
Director, general manager of the Company as well
as vice-chairman of the Board, is responsible for
the overall management of the Group’s business
operations and implementing the business strategies
formulated by the Board. The Board considers that
this management structure can provide the Group
with consistent leadership and enables the Group to
make and implement the Board’s decisions promptly
and efficiently. The Board will regularly review the
effectiveness of this structure to ensure that such
structure is appropriate in view of the Group’s
prevailing circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE TEERREE

The Company’s corporate governance structure AARIRBENDLEEREBNOT
currently in place is as follows:

Management
EEE
Outlined below are the corporate governance practices T AR RBEE_ZTZTNLF+A
adopted by the Company in compliance with the Zt+—HULEFEGENBER EE2AFHAE
principles and spirit of the CG Code during the year Hrb)EReEERTNRA KBS
ended 31 December 2009, or where applicable, up to KM EERTER o

the date of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition
The Board currently comprises 3 executive Directors,
1 non-executive Director and 3 INEDs as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHU Yu Guo (Chairman)

Mr. ZHU Mo Qun (Vice-chairman)
Mr. SUN Zhen Shui

Non-executive Director
Ms. SUN Rui Fang

INEDS

Mr. ZHAO Wei

Mr. WANG Lu

Mr. KWONG Kwan Tong

The Directors are well-versed in respective areas
such as papermaking industry’s knowledge and
technical know-how, accounting and finance and
business management and the Board as a whole
has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and
experience. The biographical details of the Directors
and the relationship among them, if any, are set out
in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section on pages 47 to 50 of this
annual report and the Company’s website at www.
gxpaper.com.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic
direction and policies of the Group and supervising
our management. Some functions including, inter alia,
the monitoring and approval of material transactions,
matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director of the Company, the approval
of the interim and final results and other disclosures
to the public or regulators are reserved by the Board
for consideration and approval. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily
management and operation of the Company are
delegated to the executive committee of the Board
and senior management of the Company.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Article 108 of the Articles of Association provides that
all the Directors, including chairman of the Board, are
subject to retirement from office at least once every
3 years at each annual general meeting and shall be
eligible for re-election. Under Article 105 of the Articles
of Association, the office of a Director is liable to be
vacated in certain circumstances and the Company
may remove any Director by an ordinary resolution at
a general meeting as prescribed in Article 114 of the
Articles of Association.
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Executive Directors

All the executive Directors have entered into service
agreements with the Company for a term of 3
years and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association. Each of them is entitled to a
fixed Director’s fee per annum and a discretionary
bonus in an amount to be determined by the Board.
Such emoluments are determined with reference to
his experience and contributions to the Group, the
Group’s performance and profitability, as well as the
prevailing market conditions. An executive Director
may not vote on any Board’s resolution regarding the
amount of the management bonus payable to him.

Non-executive Director and INEDs

The non-executive Director and INEDs have the same
duties of care and skill and fiduciary duties as the
executive Directors. They are expressly identified as
such in all corporate communications that disclose the
names of the Directors.

The INEDs are experienced professionals with expertise
in respective areas of papermaking industry and
related technical know-how, engineering, accounting
and finance. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the INEDs advise the Company on its
operation and management; provide independent
opinion on the Company’s connected transactions;
participate in various committees’ meetings of the
Board. The INEDs also contribute to provide adequate
checks and balance to protect the interests of the
Group and its shareholders as a whole, and to
promote the development of the Group.
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All the non-executive Director and INEDs have entered
into letters of appointment with the Company for
a term of 2 years and are subject to retirement by
rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with
the provision of the Articles of Association.

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all
INEDs to be independent as at the date of this annual
report.

Supply of and access to information

Newly appointed Directors will receive induction
packages containing the duties and responsibilities of
directors under the Listing Rules and other applicable
rules and regulations.

All the Directors are briefed and updated from
time to time on the latest legislative and regulatory
developments to ensure that they are fully aware of
their responsibilities under the Listing Rules, applicable
legal and regulatory requirements.

In order to ensure that their duties can be properly
discharged, the Directors are entitled to seek advice
from independent professional advisers whenever
deemed necessary by them at the Company’s
expense.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Board
held a total of 7 meetings (the “Board Meeting(s)”) with
an attendance rate of 100% to review and approve,
among other things, the 2008 annual results and 2009
interim results, connected transaction and strategic
business direction of the Group.
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The Board Meetings are permitted to be held by
means of telephone or other means of electronic
communication under the Articles of Association.

Reasonable notices are served and comprehensive
information is provided to the Board members in
advance of all the Board Meetings in order to enable
them to make informed decisions on all matters
transacted at the Board Meetings.

The proceedings of the Board Meetings are normally
conducted by the chairman of the Board who ensures
that sufficient time is allowed for discussion among
the Directors and equal opportunities are being given
to the Directors to express their views and share their
concerns.

The company secretary (the “Company Secretary”)
of the Company is responsible for preparing minutes
recording all matters transacted and resolved at the
Board Meetings. All minutes of the Board Meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure that
the Group’s pay levels are competitive in attracting
and retaining the Directors, senior management
and employees as well as motivating them in the
continual pursuit of the Group’s goal and objectives.
The remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management is performance-based and takes
into account factors such as the Group’s business
performance and prevailing market practices. The key
components of the Group’s remuneration package
include basic salary, medical insurance, discretionary
cash bonus and retirement benefit scheme. No
individual Director or senior management will be
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee of the Board will
consult with chairman of the Board in respect of their
recommendations in determining the remuneration of
the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company. The details of the Remuneration Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board Committees”
below.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance to indemnify the Directors
and senior staff of the Group for their potential
liabilities incurred by them in discharging their duties.
The Company reviews the insurance coverage for the
Directors and the Group’s senior staff on an annual
basis.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the QX Securities Dealing
Code for securities transactions by the Directors and
relevant employees (the “Relevant Employees”) who are
or may be in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code. Having made specific enquiry by the Company,
the Company confirmed that all the Directors and the
Relevant Employees have complied with the required
standard as set out in both the QX Securities Dealing
Code and the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2009.

Board Committees

The Board has established a total of 4 board
committees including executive committee (the
“Executive Committee”), audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and nomination
committee (“Nomination Committee”) (collectively
the “Committees”) to oversee specific aspects of
the Group’s affairs. The Committees have been
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provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
respective duties. Each of the Committees has
adopted specific terms of reference covering its duties,
powers and functions which will be reviewed by the
Board from time to time. The terms of reference of
the Committees have been posted on website of
the Company at www.gxpaper.com. The Company
Secretary also acts as secretary of the Committees.
The Committees adopt as far as practicable, the
procedures and arrangement of the Board Meeting in
relation to the conduct of meetings, notice of meetings
and recording of minutes. Further particulars of each
of the Committees are set out below:

(1) Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises all
3 executive Directors and is chaired by Dr. Zhu
Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board. The Board
delegates powers to the Executive Committee
to conduct and supervise the business and daily
operation of the Group as well as its staff. The
Executive Committee is also responsible for
overseeing the management of the Company,
dealing with matters regarding finance,
investment, merger and acquisition, corporate
governance and corporate communication of the
Group. During the year, the Executive Committee
held 18 meetings with an attendance rate of
100%.

All the matters considered and decided by the
Executive Committee at the meetings will be
recorded in details by minutes. A summary report
of the businesses transacted at the Executive
Committee meetings will be submitted to the
Board for review regularly.
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(2) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises all
3 INEDs and is chaired by Mr. Kwong Kwan
Tong, a professional accountant with over 20
years of experience in management accounting
and financial control. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and the internal control
of the Group. Moreover, the Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the Company’s external auditors as
well as approving their terms of engagement,
including remuneration. All members of the Audit
Committee have unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and management.

During the year, the Audit Committee has held
2 meetings with an attendance rate of 100%
to review, inter alia, (a) the financial reporting
matters including the review of 2008 annual
results and 2009 interim results of the Group;
(b) the re-appointment of the Group’s external
auditors; and (c) the staffing and resources of
the Company’s Internal Audit Department (the
“Internal Audit Department”).
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
4 members including 1 executive Director and all
3 INEDs. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, a chairman of the Board.
The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee
is to review and determine on behalf of the Board
specific remuneration packages and conditions
of employment for the Directors and senior
management. Each of the Directors is prohibited
from involving in the determination of his/her
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
meets at least once a year.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee
has held 2 meetings with an attendance rate
of 100%. At the meetings, members of the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved
the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 4
members including 1 executive Director and all 3
INEDs. The Nomination Committee is chaired by
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun, a vice-chairman of the Board.
The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is
to make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies of the Board.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee has held
1 meeting with an attendance rate of 100%. At the
meeting, members of the Nomination Committee have
reviewed the structure and composition of the Board,
assessed the independence of INEDs in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, and
the suitability of the re-election of the Directors who
are subject to the retirement by rotation at the 2010
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is endeavoured to enhance its corporate
transparency and communications with shareholders
and the investment community. Through the timely
distribution of press releases, the Group has also
kept the public abreast of its latest developments. To
ensure shareholders and investors can follow closely
on the Group’s business development, our corporate
website at www.gxpaper.com acts as an effective
channel for providing comprehensive and updated
information on the Group’s business operation and
development. Useful information which is available on
our corporate website include corporate information,
announcements, circulars, press releases, results
presentations as well as interim and annual reports.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides
a useful platform for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board. The chairman of the Board, the Board
members and the senior management of the Company
are available to answer any questions raised by
shareholders.
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During the year, the Directors and senior management
of the Company participated in several meetings and
teleconferences with fund managers and analysts,
providing excellent opportunities for the investment
community to express their views on the Group
and to exchange thoughts with the Directors and
senior management of the Company. The Company
has designated key officers to communicate with
institutional shareholders and analysts to ensure
consistency of the Group’s information.

Our Directors and management review the Group’s
disclosure of information and effectiveness of
communication with investors and shareholders from
time to time.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing financial statements of the Group in
accordance with relevant statutory requirements
and International Financial Reporting Standards and
ensuring that the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the Group’s financial position. To this end,
the Directors strives to present a comprehensive and
balanced assessment of the Group’s development and
prospects in all corporate communications, including
but not limited to annual and interim reports, any
price-sensitive announcements and financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules, any reports to
regulators as well as information required to be
disclosed pursuant to other statutory requirements.
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In addition, monthly business and financial reports
are prepared by the Group’s finance department with
a view to providing the Board and the management
with timely and reliable financial/operational data and
information to ensure that they fully understand the
financial position and operating conditions of the
Group all the time.

The Directors consider that the Group had adequate
resources to continue in business in the foreseeable
future and are not aware of material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

A statement by the external auditors regarding their
responsibilities with respect to financial reporting on
the Group’s financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 85 to 87 of
this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to implementing effective
internal controls and risk management procedures to
identify and manage the risks that may be faced by
the Group, with an aim of safeguarding the Group’s
assets and improving the operational efficiency,
corporate governance and risk management of the
Group.

The Board is responsible for maintaining adequate
internal controls and risk management procedures in
the Group, and for reviewing its effectiveness through
the Audit Committee. Evaluation of the Group’s internal
control is independently conducted by the Internal
Audit Department on an on-going basis.
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During the year, the Internal Audit Department
performed risk-based audits to review the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal controls so as to assure that
(@) key business and operational risks of the Group are
identified and managed; and (b) the Group’s internal
controls are carried out appropriately.

The aforesaid review made by the Internal Audit
Department has been reported to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee has, in turn, reported the
same to the Board together with its assessment and
recommendations. Based on the results of the review
together with the assessment and recommendations
made by the Audit Committee, the Board is satisfied
that during the year ended 31 December 2009, the
Group has implemented adequate internal controls
and risk management procedures. No significant areas
of concern which might materially affect the Group’s
operation and the interests of our shareholders were
identified.

REMUNERATION OF INDEPENDENT
EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Company’s independent external auditors are
KPMG. During the year, the annual audit fees paid
by the Company to KPMG were approximately
HK$1,000,000.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

cpnac

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders
of Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited (“the
Company”) set out on pages 88 to 189, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2009, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

B 3% BED R &

BYZBERE
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BMEBEZRINHNEBE189A FFE MR E =
BRBERRB(ATEHBIEAR]NEE Y
BHRE UEAMBERREBER_ZETAF
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

M % BRT R &

OPINION =R

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements BMRE ZEREUTERREBERRE
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the R EENEEMAALMRE & QG
Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2009 k BEEER_ZETEAFT_A=+—A0H
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year FHEMRAR BEEBHZEZHLEFENGF
then ended in accordance with International Financial FIEESRE  WEIERBREEQAIKHNEE
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared RELERS -

in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG EERETMEBLR

Certified Public Accountants HEB AT

8th Floor, Prince’s Building BBRR

10 Chater Road EITE105%

Central, Hong Kong XNFKRE8HE

17 March 2010 —E-TF=A++tH
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
RE Wl a &

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)
BE—ZTZENF+_A=14—HUFEUAREZS))

2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
Note ’000 ‘000
B i F T F T
Turnover EER 4 1,530,321 1,496,360
Cost of sales HE KA (1,105,517) (1,090,844)
Gross profit E X 424,804 405,516
Other revenue H b e 2 5 4,371 41,503
Other net loss HEMEEFR 5 (62) (2,441)
Selling expenses HERZ (19,233) (15,896)
Administrative expenses T X (34,018) (32,001)
Profit from operations SRR 375,862 396,681
Finance costs B & A 6(a) (4,168) (13,320)
Profit before taxation Bx #% Al % F 6 371,694 383,361
Income tax Fr 15 %4 7(a) (47,607) =
Profit for the year FERF 324,087 383,361
Earnings per share (RMB) BERBAN(ARYES) 11
Basic EHAK 31 cents 37 cents

R 297 2 189 B 1Y Mi 5 #5 B It 35 W 75 T R &Y
—# AFERENIEZEXNTARA
PR 2 BB FE IR B M 5E24(d) ©

The notes on pages 97 to 189 form part of these
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to
equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the
profit for the year are set out in note 24(d).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEeETHWRE R

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)

BEz—ZFZF

NFTZA=1T—HIFELUAREKEZS])

2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
’000 ‘000
FT For
Profit for the year FERF 324,087 383,361
Other comprehensive income FEHME2EKZ
for the year
Exchange differences on translation of — # & R A R L H
financial statements of operations ([ EDBINETE
outside the People’s Republic MBmREED
of China (“the PRC”) B 3 2 5 (153) (21,940)
Total comprehensive income FEXHWSARHE
for the year 323,934 361,421
Attributable to: PE 1L
Equity shareholders of the Company AARERFTAA 323,934 361,421

The notes on pages 97 to 189 form part of these

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR R &

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)
REZFFENFF—A=1T—H(UARKEZZ)

2009 2008
—EZTAE —EENF
Note ’000 ‘000
B e FT For
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BE KRR 13(a) 1,365,520 561,146
Construction in progress EEIRE 15 296,911 316,060
Lease prepayments MEEN A 16 14,809 15,150
Prepayment for the acquisition of EEEMmE K XE 2
plant and equipment TS IR 13(a) 60,780 110,880
1,738,020 1,003,236
Current assets REBEE
Trading securities R5E 17 - 64,753
Inventories FE 18 37,334 43,622
Trade and other receivables FENE B R &
H b fE WL TR IR 19 72,407 38,844
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEED 20 682,764 1,539,373
792,505 1,686,592
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loans RITERK 21 - 124,000
Trade and other payables ERNEZERR
H b & 5 OB 22 58,000 320,753
Current taxation B HA %5 18 23(a) 20,216 9,868
78,216 454,621
Net current assets RBEEEE 714,289 1,231,971
NET ASSETS EEFRE 2,452,309 2,235,207

REAXZERARLA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
5 B R &

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)

REZFFNFFZHA=+—H(UAREKEZZ)
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
Note ’000 ‘000
B e FT For
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital g 2 100,258 100,258
Reserves & 2,352,051 2,134,949
TOTAL EQUITY EEAE 2,452,309 2,235,207
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EEeRN T ZSHF-At+tAMAERERE
directors on 17 March 2010. HZ -
ZHU Yu Guo ZHU Mo Qun
KEHE KREBE
Director Director
EE EZE
The notes on pages 97 to 189 form part of these M EI7E 189 B & M 5% 8 B 1t 35 B 15 ¥R = &Y
financial statements. — &1 o
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Bt 5 AR R 3=

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)
REZFFENFF—A=1T—H(UARKEZZ)

2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
Note ’000 ‘000
KraE F T For
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment %7 K& 13(b) 586 596
Interests in subsidiaries NN RN RO 3 14 1,220,733 1,230,391
1,221,319 1,230,987
Current assets REBEE
Trading securities R 5% 5 17 - 28,058
Prepayments AN B 19 397 481
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIReEEY 20 83,945 161,371
84,342 189,910
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals H i JE - 5B &
HiIREH 22 1,260 1,316
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 1< B B A B B - 62
1,260 1,378
Net current assets RBEEEE 83,082 188,532
NET ASSETS EEFEE 1,304,401 1,419,519
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Bt %% AR R 3R

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)

R-ZEEAFEF—A=+—HA(LUARKZF))
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
Note 000 000
KiaE F T For
Capital and reserves EAXREE 24(a)
Share capital g 2 100,258 100,258
Reserves R 1,204,143 1,319,261
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 1,304,401 1,419,519

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 17 March 2010.

ZHU Yu Guo
KREE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 97 to 189 form part of these
financial statements.

EEeR _T-TFE=-ATLtHBLAERRKE
T 2% -

ZHU Mo Qun
REE
Director

EF

REI7TE189E MM F B EMIE MK A
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CONSO\L,I DATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YN X ) E: -
For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)
B2 _ZFEZENFLT A=+ —HIULFEUARELZS)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ADRREFEARNG
Share Share Other Surplus  Exchange  Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserves reserve profits equity
BRA  ROEE HtRFEE BHEE 0 ELRE REERN  ERLE
Note ’000 ‘000 '000 '000 '000 "000 '000
k3 Fr F Fr FT FT FT F
(Note 24) (Note 24) (Note 24) (Note 24)
(Hit24)  (Hiit24) (Hiz#24)  (Biz#24)
Balance at 1 January 2008 RZZZN\§E—A—H 101,359 1,536,403 (10,323) 45,151 (29,540) 398,600 2,041,650
Changes in equity for 2008: T\ FREEE
Dividends approved in respect BEFEHENRS
of the previous year 24(d) — - — - — (105,172) (105,172)
Shares repurchased: R 15 B8 24(b)
— par value paid — Y fEE (1,101) = = = = = (1,101)
— premium paid —XEE - (23,573) - - - = (23,573)
Total comprehensive income FE2ENELE
for the year — - — - (21,940 383,361 361,421
Appropriation to surplus reserve AERERHBHE - - - 39,425 - (39,425) =
Dividends declared in respect AEEERNRE
of the current year 24(d) — (38018 - - - ~ (38019
Balance at 31 December 2008 R-BENF
and at 1 January 2009 +t-A=t-HEK
—EZAF-A-H 100,258 1,474,812 (10,323) 84,576 (51,480) 637,364 2,235,207
Changes in equity for 2009: “ETAFRGEE
Dividends approved in respect BEFERENRE
of the previous year 24(d) - (76,990) - - - - (76,990)
Total comprehensive income FEXENELAH
for the year - - - - (153) 324,087 323,934
Appropriation to surplus reserve PERERBREE - - - 33,325 - (33,325) -
Dividends declared in respect FEEERNERE
of the current year 24(d) - (29,842) - - - - (29,842)
Balance at 31 December 2009 R-BEAE
+=A=+-H 100,258 1,367,980 (10,323) 117,901 (51,633) 928,126 2,452,309

The notes on pages 97 to 189 form part of these

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2'12" = }Eﬁ;)w%%:z

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)

B2 _ZFENFLT A=+ —HIULFEUARELZSZ)
2009 2008
—EEAEF —ET)NF
Note ’000 ‘000
B e FT For
Operating activities RESEH
Cash generated from operations — & &EKEALWNIE S 20(b) 432,045 460,610
PRC income tax paid ERNHREMEDR 23 (37,259) —
Net cash generated RETHREBRSFH
from operating activities 394,786 460,610
Investing activities REEH
Payment for the purchase of BEME HWELRE
property, plant and equipment BT 1~ B9 508 (16,049) (3,642)
Payment for construction TR IR RKIE
in progress (1,008,381) (249,634)
Prepayment for the acquisition BNEERELRE
of plant and equipment ") 3R I8 (60,780) (110,880)
Lease prepayments GEN=SERNE/ s - (4,205)
Net proceeds from sales/ EERHGESH
(payment for purchases) of WA (EZAF) 558
trading securities 64,711 (72,136)
Net cash received from financial A FEF ABZFZ
assets at fair value through MHBEENEIRSE
profit or loss SR - 5,386
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE  BE ARG
property, plant and equipment Ffr 18 508 = 91
Interest received 2 W F A 3,977 40,146
Dividends received from BREJZBHFAERE
investments in securities 394 1,357
Net cash used in REZDFAREEHR
investing activities (1,016,128) (393,517)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERETREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Renminbi)
B2 _ZFEZENFLT A=+ —HIULFEUARELZS)

2009 2008
—EZhEF —EENFE
Note ’000 ‘000
B e FT For
Financing activities MEEH
Repayment of bank loans ERERITENXK (124,000) (113,000)
Interest paid 2 B (4,168) (13,320)
Payment for repurchase of shares [@l B& f% 7 #) X 78 - (24,674)
Dividends paid to equity JET AR A=
shareholders of the Company BFAEANKE (106,832) (143,190)
Net cash used in BMETHFARESEE
financing activities (235,000) (294,184)
Net decrease in cash and ReREESEYNTE
cash equivalents A (856,342) (227,091)
Cash and cash equivalents —B—HRER
at 1 January HEeEEEY 1,539,373 1,792,158
Effect of foreign exchange EXSBHNEE
rate changes (267) (25,694)
Cash and cash equivalents +ZA=+—HBE£K
at 31 December BEEEY 20(a) 682,764 1,539,373
The notes on pages 97 to 189 form part of these REITE1S9E MW BRI ET K RERD
financial statements. — &1 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 5 September 2006 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing
and trading of decorative base paper products
and printing paper product.

The shares of the Company were listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Stock Exchange”) on 2 October 2007.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual IFRSs, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations, issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These financial statements also comply
with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange. A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group is
set out below.

Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(= H AT

2.

£S5 YA EEZ7)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)
The IASB has issued certain new and
revised IFRSs that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2009 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries.

The financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest
thousand. The measurement basis used in
the preparation of the financial statements is
the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments at fair value through profit or
loss (see note 2(d)) which are stated at their
fair values.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %% W R M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B BEMIEI  UARKEF)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHE#E)
(Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation (Continued) (b) wWMBEE(E)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of IFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 30.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2= = 15 o
(= H 85 -

KA RKZ5)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation

(i)

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by
the Group. Control exists when the
Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control
ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary
is stated at cost less impairment losses
(see note 2(i)).

Transactions eliminated on
consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealised profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

1 00 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

A financial instrument is classified as at
fair value through profit or loss if it is held
for trading or is designated as such upon
initial recognition. Financial instruments are
designated at fair value through profit or
loss if the Group manages such investments
and makes purchase and sale decisions
based on their fair value. Upon initial
recognition, attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
Financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, and
changes therein are recognised in profit or
loss.

Net income from financial instruments
designated at fair value through profit or
loss comprises all gains and losses from
changes in fair value (net of accrued
coupon) of such financial assets and
financial liabilities, together with interest
income and expense and dividend income
attributable to those financial instruments.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group/the Company commits
to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.

Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

’ y = L5 )
(b 5 5 AT #5 51

2.

CHUAREZ )

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent payments
made to acquire leasehold land. Leasehold
land is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see
note 2(i)). Amortisation is charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the
respective periods of the leases.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated
in the statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(i)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off
the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings 40 years

— Plant and machinery 10-20 years
—  Motor vehicles 10 years

—  Furniture and fixtures  2-10 years

and computer

equipment
— Leasehold Over the period
improvements of the lease
term

Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress
Construction in progress represents
property, plant and equipment under
construction and equipment pending
installation, and is initially recognised in
the statement of financial position at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(i)). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction.
Capitalisation of these costs ceases and
the construction in progress is transferred
to property, plant and equipment when
substantially all of the activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are
completed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R e O
(b 5 5 AT 15 51

LA R 2 1)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Construction in progress (Continued)

(h)

(i)

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed
and substantially ready for its intended use.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under
operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease terms, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.

Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of trade and other
receivables
Receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost are reviewed at each
end of the reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of
the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (Continued)
Impairment of trade and other
receivables (Continued)

(i)

a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; and

significant changes in the tech-
nological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
01 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B Z BRI - UANREEZZ)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEE)
(Continued)
() Impairment of assets (Continued) () EEREGE)

(i)

Impairment of trade and other
receivables (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any
impairment loss is determined and
recognised as follows:

For financial assets carried at cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material.

For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of the asset), where the
effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where
financial assets carried at amortised cost
share similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and have not
been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective

group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and other
receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount
of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off
against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables included within trade and
other receivables, the recovery of which
is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for
doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group
is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade receivables
directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ij) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at each end
of the reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets
may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

— investments in subsidiaries;
— lease prepayments;

— property, plant and equipment;
and

— construction in progress.
If any such indication exists, the

asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ij) Impairment of other assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs to sell and value
in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of
the assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less
costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
01 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN KA REZ5)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHER)
(Continued)
() Impairment of assets (Continued) () EEREGE)
(i) Impairment of other assets (i) EHEERE &
(Continued)

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of impairment losses
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange,
the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance
with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end
of the financial year (see notes 2(i)(i)
and (ii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in
the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
01 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R e O
(b = 5 AT 75 51

LA R 2 1)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

()

(m)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(i)),
except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised
initially at fair value less attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference
between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings,
together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash

at bank and other financial institutions and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and

short-term, highly liquid investments that

are readily convertible into known amounts

of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value, having

been within three months of maturity at

acquisition.

Employee benefits

)

(if

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local
defined contribution retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules
and regulations in the PRC are
recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred, except to the extent
that they are included in the cost of
inventories not yet recognised as an
expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BEZEATIEI  UNREZ3)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTHES)
(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EETRE)

(i)

The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding
increase in the capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at
the grant date using the binomial lattice
model, taking into account the terms
and conditions under which the options
were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

i)

(Continued)

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss
for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On the vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B AT

2.

75

WA M2 )

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Income tax

(M

i)

Income tax for the year comprises
current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities. Current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise
from deductible and taxable temporary
differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p) Income tax (Continued)

)

(Continued)

Apart from differences which arose
on initial recognition of assets and
liabilities, all deferred tax liabilities
and all deferred tax assets, to the
extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits
that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br = B AT 551

2.

CUAREZZ)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised
is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax
asset is reviewed at each end of the
reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p) Income tax (Continued)

(iv)

Current tax balances and deferred
tax balances, and movements therein,
are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current
tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities if the
Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are
met:

— in the case of current tax assets
and liabilities, the Company or
the Group intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets
and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities,
which, in each future period
in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
01 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN KA REZ5)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEEFEEE)
(Continued)
(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities () BRERIAEE
(i) Financial guarantees issued () EZHZHIER

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee
(the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Where the Group or the Company
issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value
can otherwise be reliably estimated) is
initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable
for this issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss
on initial recognition of any deferred
income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial guarantees issued
(Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In
addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with note 2(q)(ii) if and
when (i) it becomes probable that the
holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group or the Company under the
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that
claim on the Group or the Company
is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee
i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent
liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other
liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group or the Company
has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(Continued)

(ij) Other provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)
Where it is not probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

() Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable.
Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the
customer has accepted the related
risks and rewards of ownership.
Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iij) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it
accrues using the effective interest
method.

(iiij) Dividend income
Dividend income from listed
investments is recognised when the
share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

Translation of foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation
currency
[tems included in the financial
statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to that
entity (“functional currency”). The
functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries outside the PRC is
Hong Kong dollars and the functional
currency of the subsidiary in the PRC
is Renminbi. As the Group mainly
operates in the PRC, Renminbi is used
as the presentation currency of the
Group (“presentation currency”).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2= e
(b = 5 AT 75 51

LA R 2 1)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies
(Continued)
(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during
the year are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The results of operations outside the
PRC are translated into Renminbi at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Items in
the statement of financial position are
translated into Renminbi at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(s) Translation of foreign currencies
(Continued)
(ii) Transactions and balances
(Continued)

®)

On disposal of an operation outside
the PRC, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit
or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale
are interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
01 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2= e
(= H 85 -

KA RKZ5)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Expenditure on
development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as
an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period.

Repair and maintenance expenditure
Repair and maintenance expenditure,
including cost of overhaul, is expensed as

incurred.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial
statements, a party is considered to be
related to the Group if:

() the party has the ability, directly
or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, to control the Group
or exercise significant influence over
the Group in making financial and
operating policy decisions, or has joint
control over the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to
common control;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

i)

(iv)

(vi)

the party is an associate of the Group
or a joint venture in which the Group is
a venturer;

the party is a member of key
management personnel of the Group or
the Group’s parent, or a close family
member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of
a party referred to in (i) or is an entity
under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

or

the party is a post-employment
benefit plan which is for the benefit
of employees of the Group or of any
entity that is a related party of the
Group.

Close family members of an individual
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that individual in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =ZH AT -

2.

KA RKZ5)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(x)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments
are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The IASB has issued one new IFRS, a number
of amendments to IFRSs and new Interpretations
that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the
Group’s financial statements:

— IFRS 8, Operating segments

— |AS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of
financial statements

— Improvements to IFRSs (2008)

— Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial

instruments.: Disclosures — improving
disclosures about financial instruments

— IAS 23 (revised 2007), Borrowing costs

3.

Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise /nd/'cated)
(BB BAHESN  UNBEEZZ])

B HRREH
REFTEARBERM T —AIMIEE
R REER - ZIRBRM S REE
AR AR 2R ORAKERAR
AIRTTEH B ERER - BAKEET
BREABENSHABREHNOT ¢

— BRVBHREENFSR/EES
i

— BEREAENFIHR(ZEZTLF
RAERT) [ B2/ B

— EBRMBHRELENSRE
(ZEENEF)

— BB BEREERNETH (EFTR)
[£@TA  KE—ANZEHEH
TAKE]

— BEReEFERBR(ZFTTLEF
RIET)EERKA]

Annual Report 2009 1 2
—RRAEER £



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Improvements to IFRSs (2008) has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the amendments were consistent
with policies already adopted by the Group. In
addition, the amendments to IFRS 7 do not
contain any additional disclosure requirements
specifically applicable to the Group’s financial
statements. The impact of the remainder of these
developments on the Group’s financial statements
is as follows:

— IFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be
based on the way that the Group’s chief
operating decision maker regards and
manages the Group, with the amounts
reported for each reportable segment being
the measures reported to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker for the purposes
of assessing segment performance and
making decisions about operating matters.
The adoption of IFRS 8 has resulted in the
presentation of segment information in a
manner that is more consistent with internal
reporting provided to the Group’s most
senior executive management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

As a result of the adoption of IAS 1
(revised 2007), details of changes in equity
during the period arising from transactions
with equity shareholders in their capacity
as such have been presented separately
from all other income and expenses in a
revised consolidated statement of changes
in equity. All other items of income and
expense are presented in the consolidated
income statement, if they are recognised
as part of profit or loss for the period, or
otherwise in a new primary statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Corresponding amounts have been
restated to conform to the new presentation.
This change in presentation has no effect
on reported profit or loss, total income
and expense or net assets for any period
presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(= BHIESN  UAREZZ])

3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The IAS 23 (revised 2007) eliminates
the option in IAS 23 (2004 version) of
recognising all borrowing costs immediately
as an expense. Consequently the Group
is required to adopt a policy of capitalising
borrowing costs which are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset as
part of the cost of that asset. As a result,
borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowings costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use
or sale are interrupted or complete. In
accordance with the transitional provisions
in the amendment, this new policy will be
applied prospectively to any borrowing cost
relating to qualifying assets for which the
commencement date for capitalisation is on
or after 1 January 2009.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacturing and sale of decorative base paper
products and printing paper product in the PRC.
Turnover represents the sales value of goods sold
less returns, discounts and value added taxes
and other sales taxes, which may be analysed as
follows:
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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EXE
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HEWRNMEMEER  Eaofaw’ :

2009 2008

—EENEF —TTE)NF

’000 ‘000

Fr For

Decorative base paper products TR A E @ 1,307,243 1,225,220
Printing paper product EN R A 4 = & 223,078 271,140
1,530,321 1,496,360

The Group’s customer base is diversified
and includes only one customer with whom
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s
revenue. In 2009, revenue from sales of printing
paper product to this customer amounted
to approximately RMB223,078,000 (2008:
RMB271,140,000) and all arose in the PRC.
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising
from this customer are set out in note 25(a).

AEENRFRESE  HAAEEETRS
%%ﬁ¢'ﬂﬁ—%mxﬁlw%”
10% - RZZTZTNGF  MEZBREFHEHE
EN il 4K an B9 W 25 40 & A R #223,078,000
T(ZZEZENEF - AR ®271,140,000
) EBEFEBEANEE  c-FAZER
FEAMNEESTRRMGE SR
F£25(a) °

Annual Report 2009 1
“EENEER 33



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

5. OTHER REVENUE AND NET LOSS 5. HWREREEFEEE
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
’000 ‘000
F G FT
Other revenue H fth I 2=
Interest income from banks RITFERF B WA 3,977 12,970
Other interest income H b F) B U A - 27,176
Total interest income on financial ERANFEEE AEZN
assets not at fair value through B 78 & = 4 M| B Uk A
profit or loss 3,977 40,146
Dividend income from listed FtREAHEZEREWKA
securities 394 1,357
4,371 41,503
Other net loss HMEEFE

Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWE - HE L KEDH

plant and equipment BE (W) 6 (8)
Net foreign exchange loss HNFE B 1B F 5B 14 452
Net realised and unrealised losses &/ F{E =t A B2 I 1%

on financial assets at fair value BECDEIR N AR

through profit or loss EE R 42 1,997

62 2,441
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 %5 o2& MY &F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicateq)
(B BHAHS  UARHZ )

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. BRFAIER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ B E DS A B R (GEA)
(crediting):
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
’000 000
o Fr
(@) Finance costs: @ BMEMKAK :
Interest on financial liabilities FEZR AT EFA
not at fair value through BRI BEAaGE
profit or loss M B
— Interest on bank — RAFAEH
borrowings wholly BRI
repayable within EEFE
five years 4,168 13,320
(o) Staff costs (including b) BEIXAN(BIEES
directors’ remuneration B & (#1a28)) -
(note 8)):
Contributions to defined TREFTEKRE
contribution retirement sTE|
plans 2,831 2,050
Salaries, wages and other He  LENREM
benefits =7 37,923 29,898
40,754 31,948
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIES)  UAREZ5)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiary
participates in a defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (“the Scheme”) organised by the
local authority whereby the PRC subsidiary is
required to make contributions to the Scheme
at a fixed amount announced annually by the
municipal government. The municipal government
is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees in Hong Kong under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
and administrated by an independent trustee.
Under the MPF Scheme, both the Group and
the employees are required to make regular
contributions to the MPF Scheme. The Group
is required to contribute an amount equivalent
to 5% of the employees’ relevant income to the
MPF Scheme, subject to the maximum level
of relevant income of HK$20,000 per month.
Mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme are
vested immediately.

1 36 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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6.

BR B A0 & R (&)

RIEFBENEBSE TRAEOESR  HE
MEBARZ2EMSERE W E RN
BRRBHAEE(TEHE]) - it - B
BRARARBENRFSF M EBHE
SRERBLET BI(E R - M AR R
RAREENZHMEKRSEE -

AEBMBEESRSNERESFEEH
MEEREREBEBKIEANESR
Hoas M ABEEETE([RERTE]) -
BECHENEEEASENEES A
BE HBHBEUITAERE BRERESD
HE ASEREEEHATHMEE
SETEER RN AEENHRERE
REBBBKRANS% » LA B #20,000/%8
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise /nd/'caied)
(R EFATIESN  UAREZ3))

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6. BRFAIER (&)

The Group has no other material obligation for Br _E ATt M EET B TRV RN - AR
the payment of pension benefits associated with ] 45 4 L b B2 22 AR (E ST 2N AR B R EE KR
the two schemes referred to above beyond the KeBAIZNAEME -

contributions described above.

2009 2008
—EENF —ZETNF
000 000
FT For
(c) Other items: ) HfImEA :
Amortisation of lease NS EENE/OE: s
prepayments 341 310
Auditors’ remuneration % EL R BN &
— Audit services — =R 881 999
— Tax services — BB RS 50 129
Depreciation e 93,393 70,519
Loss/(gain) on disposal HEWE  HENX
of property, plant and HEER
equipment (f) 6 (8)
Operating lease charges in BHENKEHRE
respect of B A
— leasehold land and —HELH K
properties IES 3,967 1,918
— others — Hitb 150 150
Sewage disposal expenses B & 132 132
Research and development fift 3 B A
costs 156 169
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. REWBERANFAEH
INCOME STATEMENT
(a) Taxation in the consolidated income (a) ZREWERAMNBIES :
statement represents:
2009 2008
—EEAF —EENF
’000 000
Fr For
Current tax BB H
— PRC corporate income tax — P ER R
Provision for the year REFEFHR 47,607 =

()  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
the Cayman Islands and British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI.

(i) No provision has been made for Hong
Kong Profits Tax as the Group did not
earn profits assessable to Hong Kong
Profits Tax during the year.

1 38 Qunxing Paper Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (Continued)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated income
statement represents: (Continued)

(i)

Shandong Qunxing Paper Limited
(“Shandong Qunxing”) is a foreign
investment enterprise and has been
granted certain tax relief whereby it
is fully exempted from PRC income
tax for the two years starting from
1 January 2007 to 31 December
2008, followed by a 50% reduction
in the PRC income tax rate for the
three years from 1 January 2009 to
31 December 2011. The applicable tax
rate for Shandong Qunxing for the year
ended 31 December 2009 is 12.5%.

In addition, the Group would be
subject to withholding tax at the
rate of 5% if profits generated by
Shangdong Qunxing after 31 December
2007 were to be distributed. As
Shandong Qunxing is wholly owned
by the Company, the Company can
control the payments of dividends
by Shangdong Qunxing and the
Company’s directors have confirmed
that it is unlikely that Shangdong
Qunxing will pay dividends in the
foreseeable future.

Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EHEI  UAREEZEZ])

7. BERBZRANABHR &)

() REWRBERANBESR : (&)

(ii)

IWEBHEHKEBR AL
REBEEDRINEDLE U E
BRETHBESR BEBEZ
TE+tF—HF—HBE_Z
ENFEF+_HA=+—"HM
FHREZER AT EH
Frigt  UERRZZEZNF
—A—BRE-_T——F+=
A=+t —B=Z6MER%
50%9 B FT 18 LA & o LR
HEBRE-_ZTZZNLF+=ZAH
S+—HRLEFENEAME
B312.5% o

AN - LR BFEREE
EELF+T__HA=+—HI1
F 2R K ERIA E N DK
TAREHE AEBEARURK
RSB M FENBL - BR A
REAZEFEBALUREE K
X B A] PR LR B B K 5 Y
BRE  MARBEEZHR -
WRBHEFSNAARERNR K
O A BB
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. ZEWBRAWFBHR &)
INCOME STATEMENT (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense (b) REABRFENHERXHEST
and accounting profit at applicable s Rl BV ¥ ER
tax rates:
2009 2008
—BEAF —EENF
’000 000
Fr For
Profit before taxation B Bt BT % A 371,694 383,361
Income tax on profit before MBS ERE R
taxation, calculated at the AR EITE 2
tax rates applicable in the R B Bi 5 M BT 18 B
respective tax jurisdictions
concerned 93,706 96,882
Tax effect of tax concession MEEEHRREZ
period ME & (49,040) (100,001)
Tax effect of non-deductible NGRS
expenses s & 1,981 3,739
Tax effect of non-taxable FERREUW A Z
income Tl 75 = & (103) (620)
Tax effect of unused tax losses  FLIRIEFIIE B 7Y K fER
not recognised for deferred KERAMIEEREZ
taxation purposes Mg & 1,063 —
Actual tax expense ERMIBR X 47,607 —

HEAXEZERERAA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BAHESN  UNRBBEEZZ])

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM=
The Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant BIEEEDNTIEN E161IEFIBENE
to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies EMEmT

Ordinance is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2009 BE-_ZEENF+-A=1+T—HLEE

Basic

salaries,

allowances
and other Contributions
benefits to retirement

in kind benefit
Directors’ EXF S scheme
fees EER BB F Bonuses Total
EzHe HiER TR #4 8%
’000 "000 ’000 ’000 ’000
Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Zhu Yu Guo STEBT 634 291 - - 925
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun REBEHEE 634 - - - 634
Mr. Sun Zhen Shui BiRKkELE 317 - - - 317
Non-executive FYTES
Director
Ms. Sun Rui Fang Bmrxt 63 - - - 63
Independent BUFHAES
non-executive
Directors
Mr. Zhao Wei Hass 106 - - - 106
Mr. Wang Lu TERE 106 - - - 106
Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong  B/R 2 % 4 158 - - - 158
Total At 2,018 201 - - 2,309
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM=E(#)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2008 BZz-ZE/\F+Z-A=1+—HILEE
Basic
salaries,
allowances

and other  Contributions
benefits  to retirement

in kind benefit
Directors’  EXH & - scheme
fees RER R Bonuses Total
EF0E Hi @Al sTEIf R Al =
'000 ‘000 ‘000 '000 ‘000
F FIT Fr Y Fr
Executive Directors HTES
Dr. Zhu Yu Guo KEEEL 641 = — - 641
Mr. Zhu Mo Qun RERLE 641 - - - 641
Mr. Sun Zhen Shui BRokEsE 320 - - - 320
Non-executive FYTES
Director
Ms. Sun Rui Fang Bmpkt 64 - - - 64
Independent BYUHTES
non-executive
Directors
Mr. Zhao Wei HELE 107 = = = 107
Mr. Wang Lu TEEE 107 - - - 107
Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong ~ BV E %4 160 - - - 160
Total I 2,040 - - - 2,040
During the year, no amount was paid or payable EAFE AEEBMEENIENES
by the Group to the Directors or any of the S TXMEFIOMMAEZZFTMALH
five highest paid individuals set out in note E A B S LA 3| 18 S5 hn BE AN & B 5k
9 below as an inducement to join or upon MABNREHIIERBERBEE - EAF
joining the Group or as compensation for loss B HEIT VXA EERNELXRAE
of office. There was no arrangement under WMEEAMME -

which a Director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments, three (2008: two) were also
Directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other two (2008: three) individuals
are as follows:

Bt %% ¥R & B &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BR=EHIES  UANRBEZ3])

REHMAL

IEReHFMALHE=R2(ZTEN
FMB)N/ET  HENHER L
XHESHMWE - HMMEB(ZTEN
FZR)ERRFMATIOMSEED
T

2009 2008

—EEBNE —EENF

’000 ‘000

F 7 F 7T

Salaries and other emoluments e &kE e 1,150 1,709

Discretionary bonuses B 1E T AL - —
Contribution to defined contribution & 284t FUR K & 5T 2

retirement plan 21 32

1,171 1,741

The emoluments of the two individuals (2008:
three) with the highest emoluments are within the
following band:

ME(ZETNF: ZB)RaFMAL
BN FIATEHE :

Number of individuals

AB
2009 2008
—EENEF —ZEENF
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 OBTLE
1,000,000 7T 2 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIES)  UAREZ5)

10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 10. XA GERZEFEAEGZF
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to equity RRRIEZFEARGEES N BREE
shareholders of the Company includes a loss of BARYG,215,000c (ZZEZEN\F : F
RMB6,215,000 (2008: loss of RMB8,725,000) B A R#¥8,725,0007T) * WE R A A A
which has been dealt with in the financial B REANRIRE °

statements of the Company.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11. SREF
Basic earnings per share BRELRBEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share FREARAEFITIRE AR A I ERE
is based on the profit attributable to ordinary = A% R G m A A R % 324,087,000 7T
equity shareholders of the Company of (ZZEZNF : AR¥383,361,0007T)
RMB324,087,000 (2008: RMB383,361,000) and ARRZAREE D BT E @R INEF
the weighted average number of 1,032,800,000 3 £ 1,032,800,000 Hx( ZT)\F
(2008: 1,038,273,000) ordinary shares in issue 1,038,273,000 &) 5t & - st E HF X WA
during the year, calculated as follows: o
Weighted average number of ordinary HEROMEFIE
shares
2009 2008
—EEAEF —ETNF
’000 000
FT For
Issued ordinary shares R—A—BERTEER
at 1 January 1,032,800 1,045,000
Effect of shares repurchased BRHEBENTE — (6,727)
Weighted average number of R+Z—HA=+—H
ordinary shares T 58 AR B9 O HE 19 B
at 31 December 1,032,800 1,038,273
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares REAIREERNARRAINEETAGEE
during the years presented and, therefore, diluted FEMNTEK  HRUITEEINNSRESZ

earnings per share is not presented. H e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group operates in a single business
segment, the manufacturing and trading of
decorative base paper products and printing
paper product in the PRC. The Group’s chief
operating decision maker regards and manages
the Group based on the information of this single
business segment, for the purposes of assessing
performance and making decisions about
operating matters. Accordingly, no segmental
analysis is presented. All of the Group’s revenues
are generated in the PRC and substantially all of
the Group’s assets are located in the PRC and
therefore no geographical segment information
has been disclosed.

12.

Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EHEI  UAREEZEZ])

2 EB &
AEBNEBIRE-FXHoE  E
B Y 4 I B B 5 B R AR EE m S EN R R
MEm AKBEXI2RLERREREE
—EBOMNERZELREEARE
EEHHEEEEFRER AL IR
EoRl AEBEXEZS|DE DA o
HRASEZHBWAREFE - MBX
BONEETURTEREA - S AE
B mR TR EBER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BMERR®E

(a) The Group (@) &%
Furniture
and fixtures
and
computer
Leasehold Plant and Motor  equipment
Buildings improvements  machinery vehicles A EE Total
i ES HE%E HEREE RE  REMEE &it
‘000 ‘000 000 ‘000 000 ‘000
I I 7 7 I 7
Cost: A%
At 1 January 2008 R-ZE\E-F-A 48,933 - 583,508 2,228 4,146 638,815
Additions NE — 306 2,170 308 858 3,642
Transfer from construction SRERRIRMH)
in progress (note 15) 13,180 189 153,604 - 120 167,093
Disposals e = = = (130) (86) (216)
Exchange adjustments B A = {4 = = @) (12
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZN\E+-F=1-H 62,113 491 739,282 2,406 5,030 809,322
At 1 January 2009 R-ZENE-F-A 62,113 491 739,282 2,406 5,030 809,322
Additions NE - 295 14,518 109 1,127 16,049
Transfer from construction ERARRIR(HH1)
in progress (note 15) 246,737 = 634,989 - - 831,726
Disposals HE - (490) - - @) (499)
Exchange adjustments EXAE = (1) = = (1) @
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBEAET-A=1-H 308,850 295 1,388,789 2,515 6,148 1,706,597
Accumulated depreciation: FilhE
At 1 January 2008 R-ZEN\F-A—-H 5,076 - 170,098 690 1,930 177,794
Charge for the year REEHE 1450 258 68,188 216 407 70,519
Written back on disposals HERRED - - = (107) (26) (133)
Exchange adjustments EiAE - 2 - - 2 @
At 31 December 2008 R-ZENE+ZA=1-R 6,526 256 238,086 799 2,309 248,176
At 1 January 2009 R-2ENE-F-H 6,526 %6 238286 799 2300 248176
Charge for the year REEHE 2,500 242 89,917 233 501 93,393
Written back on disposals HERER - (490) - = 2 (492)
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBEAET-A=1-H 9,026 8 328,203 1,032 2,808 341,077
Net book value: EEFE:
At 31 December 2008 R-ZEN\E+-A=1-H 55,087 235 500,996 1,607 2,121 561,146
At 31 December 2009 RZBENE+ZB=1-H 299,824 287 1,060,586 1,483 3,340 1,365,520

AEB2BEFHULATE -

All of the Group’s buildings are situated in
the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %% 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B 2EAS  UARKEZF)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥  -BERRXRE#E)

(Continued)

(a) The Group (Continued) (@ XKEBEE)
As at 31 December 2009, the Group made RZEZAF+ZA=+—H &K
a prepayment of RMB60,780,000 (2008: % B 78 14 A R %60,780,000 7T (=
RMB110,880,000) to acquire plant and TE)\F : AR110,880,0007T)
machinery. The remaining amount of the NEERERZE SRZHB TR
contract consideration is included in capital T8 2 B FE1E B A AEHE (M 5E26(0)) °

commitments (note 26(b)).

At 31 December 2008, property, plant and R-ZEBEENF+_A=+—H " B
equipment with a net book value totalling H % E A AR 225194,000 7T HY
RMB225,194,000 was pledged to secure ME  WMEREEDWIRE - LA
certain bank loans (note 21) granted to the BRI AREBRETRTER(H T
Group. 21) IR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥  -BERRXE#E)
(Continued)
(b) The Company (b) A2 F
Furniture

and fixtures
and computer

Leasehold equipment
improvements B %E Total
HE#B REKRE a3t
'000 '000 '000
FT FT FT
Cost: o7
At 1 January 2008 R-ZZEZNE—HF—H - - -
Additions N 306 480 786
Transfer from construction in ~ BRBER IR (#:£15)
progress (note 15) 189 — 189
Exchange adjustments B X, 3 B 4 4) 8)
At 31 December 2008 RZZENFE+ZA=+—H 491 476 967
At 1 January 2009 R-_ZEZNE—A—H 491 476 967
Additions NE 295 85 380
Disposals & (490) (8) (498)
Exchange adjustments Tk (1) - (1)
At 31 December 2009 R-EZhE+=ZA=1—-H 295 553 848
Accumulated depreciation: Zil#HTE -
At 1 January 2008 RZZETENE—-F—H - - -
Charge for the year AEEME 258 116 374
Exchange adjustments [E 5 & 2 (1) 3)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZENFE+_A=+—H 256 115 371
At 1 January 2009 R-_ZEZENE—HA—H 256 115 371
Charge for the year AEEHE 242 141 383
Written back on disposals & % [0 (490) 2) (492)
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBEAF+=A=+-8 8 254 262
Net book value: FREFE
At 31 December 2008 RZZENF+ZA=+—H 235 361 596
At 31 December 2009 R-EZhE+=ZA=+—-H 287 299 586
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREHHIES  UANRBEZ3])

14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14. R B DT MWERS
The Company
PN

2009 2008

—EENE —EENF

’000 ’000

F 7 F7T

Unlisted shares, at cost JEETMKG,  BAKAE 996 996
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENETE /] 1,219,737 1,229,395
1,220,733 1,230,391
The amounts due from subsidiaries are JEWHEBARMRBLAERE 28K
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms HEETERY - BEETRAEWKER A
of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, WRIEETERNREHRAREST T 2@
the amounts due from subsidiaries will not be AARERE R BRAEK AN AEIER

repaid within twelve months from the end of the g o
reporting period and are, therefore, shown in the
statement of financial position as non-current.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14. RHE QRN ERE (#)

Details of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2009 RZEZNEFE+A=+—HWBAF
are set out below: RFEIBETI AT

Place of Percentage of

incorporation/ Particulars of issued and equity attributable
Name of company establishment fully paid up capital to the Company Principal activities
INCER HRRYL/ Huhy ERTRABREARE RAREGESZAAL TEER

Direct Indirect
E# B#
Double Nation Limited BVI 100 shares of US$1 each 100% = Investment holding
(‘Double Nation’) RERUES 100Hk & AR / (B 16 7T 8 B 17 REAR

Best Known Group Limited ~ Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of - 100% Investment holding

SEEEERAH B HK$1 each BARR
100REREBIETHEER

Shandong Qunxing Paper PRC RMB1,294,000,000 = 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited® H A K %1,294,000,0007T decorative base paper
IWREHEARBRAR) products and printing
paper product
RERHERHREEMR
Rl
* This entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise * 'Ef?ﬁﬁjf/\qﬁ.ﬁj_é BI9N EEE

established in the PRC.

o

e Ry
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B S EHH#S  UAREZF))

15. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 15. EEZ I &
The Group The Company
rEM AAF
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAE —TTN\F ZBTAE —ITTN\F
’000 000 ’000 ‘000
Fr Fir Fr Fr
At 1 January m—HA—8 316,060 167,098 - 200
Additions NE 862,577 316,066 - —
Transfer to property, EHEEYX  WE
plant and equipment &I AC IR
(note 13) (881,726)  (167,093) - (189)
Exchange adjustment PE 5 3% - (11) = (11)
At 31 December R+-_A=+—8H 296,911 316,060 — =
As at 31 December 2009, construction in R-BEHNE+_A=+—0 &I

progress comprises costs incurred on buildings
and plant and machinery not yet completed at

the end of the reporting period.

=
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIES  UAREZ5)

16. LEASE PREPAYMENTS 16. HEFSINKE
The Group rEE
‘000
For
Cost: B
At 1 January 2008 R-ZZEZNF—H—H 11,441
Additions NE 4,205
At 31 December 2008, 1 January 2009 RK-_ZEZENF+_A=+—H -
and 31 December 2009 —ETNF-HA—HRK
—EEAFE+ZA=+—H 15,646
Accumulated amortisation: Rit# -
At 1 January 2008 R=ZZEZENE—H—H 186
Charge for the year NG 3] 310
At 31 December 2008 R_ZEENF+_HA=+—8 496
At 1 January 2009 R=ZZEZThLE—H—H 496
Charge for the year NG 3] 341
At 31 December 2009 R-BEARFE+=-A=+—H 837
Net book value: BREFHE -
At 31 December 2008 WZZEENF+_A=+—8 15,150
At 31 December 2009 R-EBEEARFE+=-A=+—H 14,809
Lease prepayments represent the cost of the land HEBRBNREBER_-_ZA=FEmWHT
use rights in the PRC, which expire in 2053. B+ b5 AR o
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17. TRADING SECURITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 2 MY &F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(= BATIES AN EREZS)

17. XZHF %

The Group The Company
rK b NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE —TTN\F ZBBEANE "—TITN\F
’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000
Fr T Fr Fr
Equity securities listed REBELETZ
in Hong Kong, BamEs
at market value i ERg - 64,753 - 28,058
18. INVENTORIES 18. 7 &
(@ Inventories in the consolidated statement of @ HKEVBKARANGEERRE :
financial position comprise:
The Group
&

2009 2008
—BEAF —EENF
’000 000
Fr For
Raw materials and consumables & #1 ¥} & 8 ¥ & 23,336 26,932
Finished goods 25K fm 13,998 16,690
37,334 43,622

Annual Report 2009 1
—RRAEER 26



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 ] & Y &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(b5 HFHIES YA REZ))

18. INVENTORIES (Continued) 18. & (#&)
(b) An analysis of the amount of inventories b)) BRRAXNEFESESNTWT :
recognised as an expense is as follows:
The Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
’000 ‘000
Fr Fr
Carrying amount of inventories EEFEREE
sold 1,105,517 1,090,844

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. BWE J R K H b & WK E

The Group The Company
iy 3 ¥ YN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAFE —TTN\F ZBENAF —TTN\F
’000 "000 ‘000 000
Fr Fir Fr Fr
Trade receivables W Z 5 BR 3R 29,520 37,795 — =
Prepayments, deposits ~ FARTZIE « R4 Kk
and other receivables H fth & W R 2,737 1,049 397 481
Other tax recoverable H b ] Yy [B] F 3R 40,150 = = =
Less: allowance for B RERRE
doubtful debts - - - —
72,407 38,844 397 481

All of the trade receivables are expected to be

recovered within one year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise /n\q/'caz‘ed)
(R EFATIESN  UANREZ3))

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 10. ERESRAREMERIIE &)
(Continued)
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRER DT
Included in trade and other receivables are BIEERKE 5 8RR & H UK
trade receivables with the following ageing TEH FEW E 5 BN iR E B AR BR
analysis as of the end of the reporting BoOMMWT
period:
The Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
’000 ‘000
Fr For
Current B A 27,630 36,543
Less than one month past due  #1Hi  ¥ — & A 1,890 1,252
29,520 37,795
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) EWEZERNRRE
Impairment losses in respect of trade REWEZEFREEEMS @ K
receivables are recorded using an allowance FAEEHEEEEZKEZERE
account unless the Group is satisfied A REMRE  BRIZBEEES
that recovery of the amount is remote, in R EREPEER - e] W E 8
which case the impairment loss is written AREMRE BEMNREEERSE
off against trade receivables directly (see EREWE SRR PME(RWE
note 2(i)). 2(i)) °
Based on past experience, the Group BERBTLR BHREFPMNEEEL
believes that no impairment allowance EWAREBEERNEE - BRAHRE
is necessary as there has not been a AL - MAEEREEAE
significant change in the credit quality HRERE AEELRHEEH
of customers and the balances were ZERBFENER@ -

considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(b5 HFHIES YA REZ))

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2. RERBFESEEY

(@ RERRSEEYPEE:

The Group The Company
& ¥ YN
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAFE —TTN\F ZEBEALE ZTITN\F
’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
Deposits with banks R 1777 & 58,076 82,748 42,663 82,748
Cash at bank and RITRE M S R
other financial B ) 7 A
institutions and FHERAE
cash in hand 624,688 1,456,625 41,282 78,623
Cash and cash R B B R OR &
equivalents in FTo 838 & &
the statement of ReEEY
financial position 682,764 1,539,373 83,945 161,371
Cash and cash RiEEREMER
equivalents in T3 930 & Kk
the consolidated ReEEY
cash flow statement 682,764 1,539,373

As at 31 December 2009, cash in hand

and cash at banks in the PRC included
in the cash and cash equivalents above
amounted to RMB567,124,000 (2008:
RMB1,370,931,000). Remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC

government.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EHEI  UAREEZEZ])

2. RERBASEEY &)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation (b) BRBANENRLEEKELENES
to cash generated from operations: HWER :
2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
Note ’000 ‘000
B i F For
Profit before taxation B %% A % R 371,694 383,361
Adjustments for: AT HIBHRE :
— Amortisation of lease —HER
prepayments 1~ 038 5 6(c) 341 310
— Depreciation — e 6(c) 93,393 70,519
— Finance costs — B & B AR 6(a) 4,168 13,320
— Interest income — B WA 5 (3,977) (40,146)
— Dividend income — BB A 5 (394) (1,357)
— Loss/(gain) on — HEWE
disposal of 8 = K 5% 1
property, plant and Eia
equipment (=) 5 6 (8)
— Net realised and — B AF¥E
unrealised losses FTABRZ
on financial assets MEEED
at fair value through BIE &
profit or loss REI
BEFH 5 42 1,997
— Foreign exchange — SN B 1R
loss 116 3,771
Changes in working LEESE
capital:
Decrease/(increase) in FERL
inventories (3 Hn) 6,288 (8,135)
Decrease in trade and EWE ZEAK
other receivables H i & 5K IR
Ve 6,587 12,059
(Decrease)/increase in ERNESHERR
trade and other H fih &~ 208
payables CRL ),/ 1800 (46,219) 24,919
Cash generated from KRR A
operations S 432,045 460,610
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN KA REZ5)

21. BANK LOANS 21.

At 31 December 2008, the bank loans of
RMB124,000,000 were repayable within one
year and were secured by property, plant and
equipment (note 13).

The bank loans as at 31 December 2008 were
interest bearing at rates ranging from 8.54% to
8.95% per annum.

RITER
RZBENE+_A=+—8 " R—
FRAETEELUADE BWEREE
ER(MFIBDHNETERAARR
124,000,0007T °

R-ZENE+-_A=+—0 K7
A FER RN F8.54%%8.95% °

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, ENESRAREMENSFIE
The Group The Company
KEH KA T
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENFE —TET)N\F ZEBEERFE —TZN\F
'000 '000 ’000 '000
F For Fr Fr
Trade payables ERE SRR 45,529 89,255 - -
Other payables and H A 8 17 508 &
accruals BIRE A 12,471 231,498 1,260 1,316
58,000 320,753 1,260 1,316

Included in trade and other payables are trade
payables with the following ageing analysis as of
the end of the reporting period. The credit period
granted by suppliers generally is not more than
30 days.
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22.

23.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Bt %% ¥R & B &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicateq)
(BEBBEAIES)  UAREZ)

22. ENESEHRRREMEMNKEE)

(Continued)
The Group
K&
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
’000 '000
FT FT
Due within 30 days 308 A = 1 45,529 89,255

All of the trade and other payables are expected
to be settled within one year.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated

B A 8 5 BR 5K I B At FE AN SRR TR AT
R—FRER -

23. MEMBRRERABNAES

(@) HEMBARRKRABEGHEN

statement of financial position E
represents:
The Group
rE
2009 2008
—EEhE —ZTTENF
’000 000
FT FT
Provision for PRC income tax AEEEFEN
for the year R RTS R 47,607 =
PRC income tax paid BSOS (37,259) —
10,348 —
Balance of PRC income tax BEFEPHMASH
relating to prior years # R 9,868 9,868
Income tax payable FEAS FTiS A 20,216 9,868
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(R SEHHES U REEZ )

23.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy
set out in note 2(p), the Group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of RMB17,035,000
(2008: RMB10,591,000) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in
the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The
tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
At 31 December 2009,
differences relating to the undistributed
profits of the PRC subsidiary amounted to
RMB654,751,000 (2008: RMB354,826,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB32,738,000
(2008: RMB17,741,000) have not been
recognised in respect of the tax that would
be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls
the dividend policy of this subsidiary and it
has been determined that it is probable that
retained profits will not be distributed in the

temporary

foreseeable future.
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23. &8

(b)

(c)

BBRRRANFAER &)

ARBRANELERBEE

B & M 5 200)FT 8 € 5t KX
AEBREFABHEEBEBARE
17,035,000 L(ZZEZENF : AR
#10,591,000 7T ) I £ E 3R 35 iE ¢
BEE  RERERBRG AR
&N BT KA REE £ R R EHRMR
wm A Al AE N B RAE - BIER
IRE  BBEBEBELERE -

ARBEANELEHELRE
RZZEENF+=_A=+—H ' &
AP BEMNERRMNKRD R
T E 5 A AR 654,751,000 70
(ZZEZENF : AR¥354,826,000

JL) ° R AR BE I UL B A A
MIREBHER YEEHERATRE
HﬁXﬁ“”ﬁ/ﬁﬂHﬁT\@%ﬁ& S E N
ERRAROELEBF RN REAE
%zimﬁﬂﬁm £t AR #32,738,0007C
ZETNFE : AR®17,741,000
L) REEMIBAE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB BAHESN  UNBEEZZ])

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24, EXK#EE
The reconciliation between the opening and REBIFAEERSTEE NFEY) EFREE
closing balances of each component of the BB SRNGERREHRAN K
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the NAERERNBEE FVHEFENEHF
consolidated statement of changes in equity. B

Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out

below:
(a) The Company (@ &AF
(Accumulated
losses)/retained
Share Share Exchange profits
capital premium reserve  (B3ER)/ Total
& R RE EXRE RERRN &
’000 ’000 ’000 '000 '000
r r r r r
(Note 24(b))  (Note 24(c)(i) (Note 24(c){iii))
(WE24)  (HE240c)) (B E24(c)fii)
Balance at 1 January 2008 R-ZENF-A-H 101,359 1,536,403 (61,989) 116,170 1,691,943
Changes in equity for 2008; ZET\EERE
Dividends approved in respect of BEFEHENRS
the previous year - - - (105,172) (105,172)
Shares repurchased: ROEE :
— par value paid —%HEE (1,101) = = = (1,101)
— premium paid — SR E - (23,579) - - (23,579)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FE2ARHLE - - (95,835) (8,725) (104,560)
Dividends declared in respect of AEESRNOKE
the current year - (38,018) - - (38,018)
Balance at 31 December 2008 and RZBENE
1 January 2009 +ZA=1t-Ak
“EENE-A-H 100,258 1,474,812 (157,824) 2,213 1,419,519
Changes in equity for 2009: “EENFERLD:
Dividends approved in respect of BAFEHENRE
the previous year - (76,990) - - (76,990)
Total comprehensive income for the year £E2H KHE 4 - - (2,071) (6,215) (8,286)
Dividends declared in respect of REEERMBE
the current year - (29,842) - - (29,842)
At 31 December 2009 RZEENE
+ZA=1-H 100,258 1,367,980 (159,895) (3,942) 1,304,401
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B BHEHIES, + YN REZZ)

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 24. EXRfEEE)
(b) Authorised and issued share capital (b) ZEREBRHITRAE
2009 2008
—2ENE —EENEF
Number Number
of shares of shares
BB EE BRin & B
(°000) '000 (000) 000
(Fi) Fr (FAz) Fr
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of BREEIET

HK$0.1 each =R 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Ordinary shares issued = Z77 % %1 €

and fully paid: EER
At 1 January n—HA—H 1,032,800 100,258 1,045,000 101,359
Shares repurchased &1/ @ & (47 :%)

(note) - = (12,200) (1,101)
At 31 December Rt+t-_A=+—8H 1,032,800 100,258 1,032,800 100,258
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled TEIRFEABERERTETEIRA
to receive dividends as declared from time A% A Iﬁ*gﬁ/\zk FeE s
to time and are entitled to one vote per B—Z=HHIBE - AN TBRT
shgre at meetings of the Cgmpany. All BER= Fﬁﬁjt BHEEE=
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to e

v

the Company’s residual assets.
Note:  Shares repurchased

During the year ended 31 December
2008, the Company repurchased its
own shares on the Stock Exchange.
The repurchased shares were cancelled
and, accordingly, the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced
by the nominal value of these shares.
The premium paid, before expenses,
on the repurchase of the shares
of HK$25,750,000 (equivalent to
RMB23,456,000) was charged to the
share premium account.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium

In accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also
be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares. During the year ended
31 December 2009, a final dividend
of RMB76,990,000 (2008: RMB Nil) in
respect of the previous year and an
interim dividend of RMB29,842,000
(2008: RMB38,018,000) in respect of
the current year were paid out from the
share premium account.

Surplus reserves

Transfers from retained profits to
the surplus reserves were made in
accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company’s
subsidiary incorporated in the PRC
and were approved by its board of
directors.

The PRC subsidiary is required to
appropriate 10% of its net profit, as
determined in accordance with the
PRC accounting rules and regulations,
to the surplus reserves until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a
dividend to shareholders.

Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise /nd/caz‘ed)

o= F = o =
(B Z B  UAREZS)

24. EXRRE )
(c) REMHERAH

(i)

(ii)

B G%E
BEREHESRAE  BRMHEE
BRAI 2R TARARREK - HEEBE
EZERBRBEZAR AR AZA
ERENINEREEKBEH
BB NHEE - RHDEEID
ANBRARAADIE - EHEZ
TEAF+_A=+—BILF
B EF—FEZRHARBAR
¥ 76,990,000 T (ZZE T N\ F :
BIRAFEZHFHAREARE
29,842,000 L(— BT\ F : A
R 38,018,0007T) B Rk 7 /& &
HIRE o

BEH#E
AEBERIEG S EBRR R
DA R 7R % R] R A B R A B SZ Y

MEBARMARERAAKGE T
mAERBEHE LCESE
EgHE -

TEEARARBETEER
Rl o 0K AR 5 a8 A B0 10% 88 1B = &
BEE BEERFENERER
S & ANE50% 7 1 - ANEE A
FERBER 2K S RETERE
B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN KA REZ5)

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 24, EXRKfRE#E)
() Nature and purpose of reserves (c) REHEERBW(E)

(Continued)
(iij) Exchange reserve

(iv)

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside
the PRC which are dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy
as set out in note 2(s).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2009, the aggregate
amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company, including the
distributable amounts disclosed in note
24(c)(i) was RMB1,364,038,000 (2008:
RMB1,477,085,000).
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(iv)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise /n\q/'caz‘ed)
(R EFATIESN  UANREZ3))

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 24, EXRREEE)
(d) Dividends d RBE
(i) Dividends payable to equity () B AELGREZRFEAFE
shareholders of the Company FEAL R E
attributable to the year
2009 2008
—EENF ZEENF
’000 000
FT Fr
Interim dividend declared and 2 &k &IE 2
paid of HK3.277 cents B EIfR B E AR
(equivalent to approximately @ AR 3.277 8L
RMB2.889 cents) per (K& R
ordinary share AR #2.889%)
(2008: HK4.16 cents per ZET)NF
ordinary share) % 3 AR
(equivalent to approximately 4168 -
RMB3.66 cents) HWEER
AR #3669 ) 29,842 38,018
Final dividend proposed after R REHKREEZS
the end of the reporting K 2 REAIR B
period of HK7.403 cents AR 58 AR
(equivalent to approximately 7.4037 1
RMB6.525 cents) (WHEER
per ordinary share AR#6.525% )
(2008: HK8.45 cents —ET)N\F
per ordinary share) R E B
(equivalent to approximately 8.457 1l -
RMB7.45 cents) “HEER
ARMT7.455) 67,385 76,990
97,227 115,008
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

a2 =] ~ 15 A
(b = 5 AT #5 51

CHUAREZ )

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(d) Dividends (Continued)

(i)

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year (Continued)
The Board has resolved to recommend
the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2009
wholly in scrip form equivalent to
HK7.403 cents (2008: HK8.45 cents
in cash form) per ordinary share to
shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the
Company on 5 May 2010.

The final dividend proposed after the
end of the reporting period has not
been recognised as a liability at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(d) Dividends (Continued)

(e)

(ii) Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B ZBFH#SN  UARHEZS))

24, EXRKRE#E)
(d) BRE (&
(i) BNEXLGEZFEALE—
BHEEEWLERE  BRE

attributable to the previous A #E R R AT
financial year, approved and paid
during the year
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
’000 ‘000
FT For
Final dividend in respect of ERFAHE R
the previous financial year, kT2 £E—
approved and paid BB R R EB
during the vyear, 1% B &% X AR
of HK8.45 cents 8.4574 1l
(equivalent to approximately (HMEER
RMB7.45 cents) ARMET 455)
per ordinary share (ZZEZENEF -
(2008: HK11.28 cents BREBERK
per ordinary share) 11.2871L -
(equivalent to approximately AEER
RMB10.126 cents) AR¥10.126%) 76,990 105,172
Capital management (e) EXEE

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debt.

AEEEREEANTERBERRIE
AEBEBAFBRETAEEN
BET » DAGE ELRE A A R AR A [0 3 Ko
REMBETEARENS - AR
MEREERNEBABRLEEX
K o

REFHAEERRE  AEET
HAEHEARRERTNBREZRE K
REH - BITHROKEEEEMN
mOBIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN KA REZ5)

24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)
The Group monitors its capital structure
on the basis of gearing ratio, which is
calculated as the Group’s total bank
borrowings over the Group’s total assets.

24,

G AR )

(€) EAREE(#)
AEBRSEES B RHEE
EEHEAAE  SERBLEE

AAREBERITEEABRAEES
Bt & -

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2008 R-_EEEZ) \ FER_ZEENF+ =
and 2009 are as follows: A=+—H BEEBBELEHEN
—F
2009 2008
—EEAEF ZEENF
’000 "000
FT For
Total borrowings BEE®E
Short-term bank loans HERITER - 124,000
Long-term bank loans RHIRITER - —
Total bank borrowings RITEEHAE - 124,000
Total assets EE#E 2,530,525 2,689,828
Gearing ratio EEEEBHLER N/A 4.6%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries AAB R EEMME R &8 E R I

are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate,

commodity price and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group’s business. The

Group was also exposed to equity price risk

arising from equity investments in other entities

classified as trading securities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the

financial risk management policies and practices

used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables and deposits
with banks. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay and
take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are
generally due within 3 to 20 days from
the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are overdue are requested to settle
all outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not collect collateral from customers.

Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

a2 =] ~ 15 A
(b = 5 AT #5 51

CHUAREZ )

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 37% (2008: 40%) and 59%
(2008: 53%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with financial institutions
with sound credit rating. Given these
high credit ratings, management does not
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group does not
provide any financial guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %% 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B2 EAS A RKEZ)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 25. MEBERRAFEE)

FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBESREME

Individual operating entities within the
Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s
board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due,
without incurring unacceptable losses or
risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

SEANBYRKEERERAELRGN
ReER BREAZEASKNEDR
B UNEBEERURNEHRS
TR BERBLRERER - 1A
ERRREFTSHE - AEERIK
REEERRERAEBREARDE
TRNIHNEE SAKEEAR
AETREEINEENBEEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BY %5 ¥R 3R M &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B ZBFHIES YA REZ))

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash

25. BXERBREERAFEE)

(b) REBEEERHE)

TRANNRAEER REHRKT
XRHMREN I HRARKR R
TREME DERAHNARURRAS
ME(BREEE QN R E & &
ME)RAKE RARBARMNKD

flows (including interest payments computed =T HE:
using contractual rates) and the earliest
date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:
The Group AEH
2009 2008
“EE0E i
Contractual undiscounted Contractual undiscounted
cash outflow cash outflow
BTAmAERR SR BHHAmAERA S
Carrying Carrying
amount in amountin
consolidated consolidated
Within statement of Within statement of
1 year or financial 1 year or financial
on demand Total position  on demand Total position
-ERg GRBERRR  —F0d  BREBRRR
REXRER At FEE REXER B KEfE
'000 '000 1000 000 ‘000 000
i 77 Fr 7 7 7
Trade and other payables ENESEAREM
R (580000 (580000 (580000 (320753 (320753 (320759
Bank loans ROER - = - (17843)  (127.843)  (124,000)

The Company

¥ AT
2009

ZEEhE

Contractual undiscounted

cash outflow

BTAMARRR SR
Carrying
amount in
Within statement of
1 year or financial
on demand Total position
-ERg BERR %
REXRER ait KEf
1000 '000 '000

Fr 7 77

2008
= L

Contractual undiscounted

cash outflow

BEHmARRR S
Carrying
amount in
Within statement of
1 year or financial
on demand Total position
—ERg, BBMRAR
BEXERN B KEfE
‘000 '000 000

77 77 7z

Other payables and accruals

EtENARBRER

(1,260) (1,260) (1,260)

(1,316) (1316) (1316)

HEAXEZERERAA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from bank loans. The Group’s policy is
to manage its interest rate risk to ensure
there are no undue exposures to significant
interest rate movements and rates are
approximately fixed. As at 31 December
2009, the Group was not exposed to this
kind of interest rate risk.

Business risk

The Group’s sales of printing paper product
are principally to one customer. Although
the Group has entered into a co-operative
agreement with this customer, there can
be no assurance that this customer will
continue to purchase from the Group
as and when needed. In the event that
this customer ceased purchasing printing
paper product from the Group and the
Group could not secure orders from other
customers, the Group’s turnover and
profitability would be adversely affected.

The Group’s purchases of raw materials
are primarily from several major suppliers.
The Group has a certain concentration of
business risk as 67% (2008: 75%) of the
total purchases were from the Group’s five
largest suppliers. If the Group could not
purchase adequate quantities of materials
from these suppliers and failed to identify
alternative sources, the Group’s turnover
and profitability could be adversely affected.

Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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25. HEREERQFEM®E)

(c)

(d)

M= @R

AEBENXREBREIERBRTE
R ARBHBREEENRAR
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B2 o

EX 30
AEETER—REPHEEMA
MER BEAKEDHZAERP
RN AR IEREERNEE
RREPSHEERNAEERE -
B PN B R AR S B R E R A A
B A B RRER E A E P
BAIE  AIRBAKRENEXER
BMENEXTFZE -

AEBEFRAETEEREREK
BREME  -BARAEER A AMHE
BN EELRREENGT%
TETNFE 75%)MAERF —
ERENEBRREDR - WAEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherw/se indicated)
(= BHIESN  UAREZZ)

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Commodity price risk

The major raw materials used in the
production of the Group’s products included
wood pulp and titanium dioxide powder.
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the
prices of wood pulp and titanium dioxide
powder which are influenced by global
as well as regional supply and demand
conditions. Fluctuations in the price of
wood pulp and titanium dioxide powder
could adversely affect the Group’s financial
performance. The Group historically has
not entered into any commodity derivative
instruments to hedge the potential
commaodity price changes.

Foreign currency risk

As most of the Group’s monetary assets
and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi
and the Group conducts its business
transactions principally in Renminbi, the
exchange rate risk of the Group is not
significant and the Group does not employ
any financial instruments for hedging
purposes.

Equity price risk

The Group was exposed to equity
price changes primarily arising from its
investments.

During the year, the Group’s investments in
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss exposed the Group to the fluctuation of
equity price of the underlying securities. As
at 31 December 2009, the Group was not
exposed to this kind of equity price risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BB B9 - LA RBEZF))

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 25. IREKREERAFEE)
FAIR VALUES (Continued)
(h) Fair values (hy A¥E
As stated in note 14, the balances with WM EE14FT AL - ELP B A Bl 2 &5 5
subsidiaries are interest-free and have no BB REBRTERD  -BEAH
fixed repayment terms. Given these terms B BEEATFELEER A7
it is not meaningful to disclose their fair BEMmem T AMEEEEER =
values. All other financial instruments are ZZENFE+ -_A=Z+—HHRAFEE
carried at amounts not materially different mMEAER -
from their fair values as at 31 December
2009.
26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 26. AFERIAREME
LIABILITIES
(a) Operating leases (a) EHE
At 31 December 2009, the total future RZFBTFNFF+ZA=+—0 R
minimum lease payments under non- BAABENEEREERREMN
cancellable operating leases are payable as MEEHEEERAET
follows:
The Group The Company
rEE NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—BEANE —ITTNGFE ZBEANE —ITITN\F
’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000
Fr Fir Fr Fr
Within one year —FR 4,484 2,850 341 =
After one year but —FRERE
within five years "AENAN 11,701 8,313 683 =
After five years HFEUE 86,350 88,378 - —
102,535 99,541 1,024 —
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN KA REZ5)

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 26
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(@) Operating leases (Continued)

The Group is the lessee in respect of
leasehold land and properties held under
operating leases. The leases run for an initial
period of two to fifty years, with an option
to renew the leases upon expiry when all
terms are renegotiated. Lease payments
for the leasehold land situated in PRC
are renegotiated every five years to reflect
market rentals. None of the lease includes
contingent rentals.

(b) Capital commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at
31 December 2009 not provided for in the
financial statements were as follows:

. AERSAREE B

(a)

(b)

KEHEE#E)
AEEESARERENAREL
WEYENEBEA - ZFHE K
NHERP_ER+F AR EE
HmR R EERY ESHNERAA F
Ko MEURTENLHREATR
FEFER  URBTHEE -
EHETERIANEE -

B AR EYE
R-ZBEAE+=—A=+—RB MK
ENARETERRIEHBENE
AAEEWT

The Group
* 8 m
2009 2008
—¥TAE —TENF
’000 000
Fr T
Contracted for SR 150,220 274,560
Authorised but not

contracted for EEREBKRTL 40,000 400,000
190,220 674,560

As at 31 December 2009, the Group was
committed to certain construction contracts
for the acquisition of plant and machinery
and buildings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(c)

Environmental contingencies

To date, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure for environmental
remediation and is currently not involved
in any environmental remediation. As such,
the Group has not accrued any amounts
for environmental remediation relating to
its operations. Under existing legislation,
management believes that there are no
probable liabilities that could have a material
adverse effect on the financial position or
operating results of the Group. The PRC
government, however, has moved, and
may move further towards more rigorous
enforcement of applicable laws, and towards
the adoption of more stringent environmental
standards. Environmental liabilities are
subject to considerable uncertainties which
affect the Group’s ability to estimate the
ultimate cost of remediation efforts. These
uncertainties include (i) the exact nature and
extent of the contamination, (ii) the extent
of required clean up efforts, (iii) varying
costs of alternative remediation strategies,
(iv) changes in environmental remediation
requirements and (v) the identification of new
remediation sites. The amount of such future
cost is indeterminable due to such factors
as the unknown magnitude of possible
contamination and the unknown timing and
extent of the corrective actions that may
be required. Accordingly, the outcome of
environmental liabilities under proposed
or future environmental legislation cannot
reasonably be estimated at present, and
could be material.

Bt % 3 3% MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi un/ess otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 26. RERFIREBE &)

LIABILITIES (Continued)

(d) Financial guarantee issued

(d ERHEBEER

During the year ended 31 December 2008, HE-_ZZNF+-_A=+—HIt
the Company had issued a single guarantee FRARFBERRITMETFT—2
to a bank in respect of a banking facility BB AR ZIRITRE 3 E—1E
granted to a wholly-owned subsidiary, RERR_ZBZNE=AFE -
which expired in March 2009. As at 31 —EENFEF+_A=+—H KB
December 2008, no facility was drawn N R R B A RRENRIT
down by the subsidiary that was covered BE o AR AW AR LM ERER
by this guarantee. The Company had not EREEEWA - BRETDAEAFEE
recognised any deferred income in respect BOAASEMEE o

of this guarantee as its fair value could not

be reliably measured.

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

27. EXBAEZTXRS

During the years ended 31 December 2008 and B ZZINFER_ZEZNF+ A
2009, transactions with the following parties are —+—BULEFE EBTINSEHORSHE
considered to be related party transactions: BAEBEFRS

Name of related party

BEL &8

Relationship

B 17

Shandong Changxing Group Limited
(“SD Changxing”)*

(LRREEEARAT
(TLWEREE])

Zouping Guanghua Veneer Company
Limited (“Guang Hua”)*
(BFERERMBRRA A

Effectively 55% owned by Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, 30% by Mr. Zhu
Mo Qun and 15% by Ms. Sun Rui Fang, the Directors
AAREFRFEE LT RE=HEERERAXTHMNE
mHEBS5%  30% & 15% &=

Entirely owned by Jumbo Bonus Investments Limited which
was in turn owned by Dr. Zhu Yu Guo, Mr. Zhu Mo Qun and
Ms. Sun Rui Fang, the Directors, as to 70%, 20% and 10%

([ ])) respectively
M AR EBRAREERER  ZArRRAESEAEEE
T RBEAERERFLEIHDHNERERTO% - 20% K%
10%7# &5
* The English translation of the company names * ZENTNT N ELEBEBATIANLTE  ®=
is for reference only. The official names of these VEZEMHZRE -

companies are in Chinese.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise /nyc///'caied)
(BR=EHIES  UANRBEZ3])

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 27. ERBEAIRZ (&)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Recurring transaction (a) REMERS
2009 2008
—ETNE —ET)N\F
’000 ‘000
F oz FT
Lease of leasehold land and MU T—FHEA
properties from: et RYE
— SD Changxing —WLERE 1,335 400
The Directors of the Company are of AABEERE  LBEFIRS
the opinion that the above related party TR —REEERRER T EBR
transaction was conducted on normal BT -

(b)

commercial terms and in the ordinary course

of business.

Non-recurring transactions (b) FBEMRS

()  Particulars of significant transactions () AEEFANELFMEAERTE
between the Group and the above THERZZFBET

related party during the years were as
follows:

2009 2008

—®BAE C—TTN\%

’000 000

FT For
Sale of decorative base paper R T—7 t5&

products to: KRR E M

— Guang Hua — K — 4,857

Lease of leasehold land from:  [A A~ —J5 F1 F
HE T
— Guang Hua — K — 92

Annual Report 2009 1 7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt % 3 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 27
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Non-recurring transactions (Continued)
(i) On 2 May 2008, the Group entered
into an agreement with Guang Hua
to acquire a piece of leasehold land
located in the PRC at the prevailing
market value of RMB4,082,000.

The Directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the above non-
recurring related party transactions
were conducted on normal commercial
terms and in the ordinary course of
business.

(c) Key management personnel
remuneration
Remuneration for key management
personnel of the Group, including amounts
paid to the Company’s directors as

. EXBELSXS#)
(b) FEEMERZ (&)

(c)

i) RZZTEENFRARHAZH &K
SEENXETIRE  AE
B T B A R 4,082,000t K
BHEUATPREMNBEE L -

ARFEERR  LRFE
BALBIE T R B R — M
B R B ¥ R 5B
17 -

FTEEBAEME

AEBTIEEEAENME (B
B SESFT M BE B A A 2 B & = H B
ERMFMBEE NE TR H

disclosed in note 8 and certain of the PiEEBME) T :
highest paid employees as disclosed in note
9, is as follows:
2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
’000 ’000
F For
Short-term employee benefits HHEERA 4,147 3,151
Contribution to defined EREHERRAKE
contribution retirement plans AT & f 3K
46 26
4,193 3,177

Total remuneration is included in “staff
costs” (see note 6(b)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by
the then sole shareholder of the Company on
8 September 2007, the Company adopted a
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of enabling the Group to reward the
employees, the Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group.
The Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from adoption of such scheme and will
expire on 7 September 2017.

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their
discretion grant options to:

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-
time, including any executive Director but
excluding any non-executive Director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any entity in which the Group holds an
equity interest (“Invested Entity”) (“Eligible
Employee”);

(b) any non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity;

28.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥ 3R MY &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEATIESN  UAREZ5)

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

() any shareholder of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(9@ any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or
business development of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

(h) any other Group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement and growth of
the Group.

For the purposes of the Scheme, the options
may be granted to any company wholly-owned
by one or more persons belonging to any of the
above classes of participants.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

An option may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of
grant of the option, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 per option. The maximum
number of the Company’s shares (“Share(s)”)
in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date
of listing (exclusive of shares issued upon the
exercise of the over-allotment option). The limit
may be refreshed at any time provided that the
new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of the shareholders’ approval of the
refreshed limit in general meeting. However, the
total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of Shares in issue from
time to time. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company has been
obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive Directors representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of Shares in issue, and
in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the shareholders of the Company.

Options may be exercised at any time from
the date of grant of the options to the tenth
anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof.
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28.

29.

BHIESN LA REZ))
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to
a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less
than the highest of () the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of the offer of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer
of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

No option has been granted by the Company
under the Scheme since its date of adoption.

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING COMPANY

The directors consider the ultimate controlling
company of the Company as at 31 December
2009 to be Boom Instant Limited, which is
incorporated in the BVI. This entity does not
produce financial statements available for public
use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as

follows:

(a)

Impairment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of an asset may not be recoverable,
the asset may be considered “impaired”
and an impairment loss may be recognised
in profit or loss. The carrying amounts of
assets are reviewed at least annually in
order to assess whether the recoverable
amounts have declined below the carrying
amounts. These assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of
the fair value less costs to sell and the
value in use. In determining the value in
use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value,
which requires significant judgement relating
to level of sales volumes, sales revenue and
the amount of operating costs. The Group
uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions and
projections of sales volumes, sales revenue
and the amount of operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
01 %% W& M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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UARHZF)

30. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Write-down of inventories

(c)

The Group determines the write-down
for obsolescence of inventories. These
estimates are made with reference to aged
inventories analyses, projections of expected
future saleability of goods and management
experience and judgement. Based on this
review, a write-down of inventories will
be made when the carrying amounts of
inventories decline below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in market
conditions, actual saleability of goods may
be different from estimation and profit or
loss could be affected by differences in this
estimation.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the relevant assets, after
taking into account the estimated residual
value, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives of the assets annually
in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded during
any reporting period. The useful lives are
based on the Group’s historical experience
with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The
depreciation expenses for future periods are
adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

31.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(d) Income tax

Judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are
transactions and calculations for which
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Additional
provision is made in the consolidated
financial statements to cover the expected
outcome of the ultimate tax determination
to the extent that outcomes are likely
and reliable estimates can be made.
However, the final outcomes are subject
to uncertainties and resulting liabilities may
exceed provisions.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT

NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated
financial statements, the IASB has issued the
following amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2009 and have not
been adopted in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % ] R Y &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(b= BHIES) - AN R EZ3])

31.
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 (Continued)

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

BE-_ZEZhF+=-A=+—HL
FECEMEERERNIEET ~
—n—AJ&n%*%T Eimgjﬂ(fm

L —

31.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

B T3 A#ExR

ZEBBOES

HRE 4%

IFRS 3 (Revised), Business combinations R B 75 R 5 2 Bl BB 355 1 July 2009
(&1EE]) EEEVf —EENFEA—H

Amendments to IAS 27, Consolidated and R Rt R F 275 1 July 2009
separate financial statements (BEIR) - &I % —ETNFEA—H

#1875 B 7 3R &

Amendments to IAS 39, Financial instruments: B[R & 5+ % B 55 395% - 1 July 2009
Recognition and measurement — THT A FRNT=E —“ZEZENFLA—H
Eligible hedged items — BB ERIEH

IFRIC 17, Distributions of non-cash assets to B2 EZES 1 July 2009
owners REEITHR 24 —ETNFEHA—H

BB &R IFE & B E
Improvements to IFRSs 2009 —ETNFREBYBHRE 1 July 2009 or
B 2 B 1 January 2010
—EENFLA—H
F—_FT—FF—H—H
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 %5 o2& MY &F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(= BATIES  ANREZS])

31. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 3. BE-EZFEAF+ZA=+—HL
NEW STANDARDS AND FECHEMEBEAREMRWIERT - #
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT HARRRBAUEELENTEE &)

NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an AEBERERZSEE - ENRT
assessment of what the impact of these REHVSEARRNRZEEDTGE -
amendments, new standards and new AEBERENBRASENEHRE  ER
interpretations is expected to be in the period of FERT - FTER R RET KA A8
initial application. So far it has concluded that the REB XA R AR KL EE R BAARNR
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant BREATE -

impact on the Group’s or the Company’s results
of operations and financial position.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IEMBRE

As at or for the year ended 31 December

RTZA=T-AREEZALEE

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Z3%0f% I ZETtE ZEEN\E “EENE
RMB 1000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFL AREFIL AREFIL AREFT
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS &AEH %
Turnover g ﬁgﬁ 696,425 950,844 1,125,524 1,496,360 1,530,321
Cost of sales BERA (563,115) (766,727) (842,055) (1.090,844) (11105.517)
Gross profit EZil ) 138,310 184,117 283,469 405,516 424,804
Other revenue Elha 662 726 121,952 41,503 4,371
Other et loss EHEETE = = (627) (2441) (62)
Sellng expenses BEMY (7,008) (9,597) (9,459) (15,896) (19,23)
Administraiive expenses ARER 9.377) (11.929) (23,698) (32,001) (34.018)
Profit from operations & § /\ﬁﬁl] 117,587 163,317 371,637 396,681 375,862
Finance costs RARA (13.799) (20,625) (21,065) (13.320) (4,168)
Profit before taxation Fﬁﬁfﬂ;ﬁﬂ 103,794 142,692 350,672 383,361 371,694
Income tax FriEH (35,460) (48,755) - - (47,607)
Profit for the year EERT 68,334 93,937 350,572 383,361 324,087
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SARBBRRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment nE BERRE 268,208 499,776 461,021 561,146 1,365,520
Construction in progress EEIR 182,411 16,000 167,098 316,060 296,911
Lease prepayments HERFRA - - 11,255 15,150 14,809
Prepayment for the acquisition of EERE & RN
plant and equipment - - - 110,880 60,780
400,639 515,776 639,374 1,003,236 1,738,020
Current assets hBEE
Trading securities RHER - - - 64,753 -
Inventories FE 38,365 50,989 35,487 43,622 37,334
Trade and other receivables EUESESREMRERE 64,257 81,785 50,903 38,844 72,407
Amounts due from directors JEMES A 47 15 - - -
Amounts due from related parties EhBELE - 183 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEED 65,568 67,265 1,792,158 1,539,373 682,764
168,237 200,237 1,878,548 1,686,592 792,505
Current liabilities nBEE
Bank loans RIER 250,200 332,000 30,000 124,000 -
Trade and other payables ERERETREMENTE 111,885 79,013 229,404 320,753 58,000
Amounts due to directors ENESHA - 104,491 = = -
Current taxation AR 17,549 21,671 9,868 9,868 20,216
379,634 627,175 269,272 454,621 78,216
Net current (liabilities)/assets hB(8%)/EEFE (211,397) (426,938) 1,609,276 1,231,071 714,289
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERTHER 189,242 88,838 2,248,650 2,235,207 2,452,309
Non-current liabilities *nBas
Bank loans BIER - - 207,000 = -
NET ASSETS EEFE 189,242 88,838 2,041,650 2,235,207 2,452,309
Capital and reserves EXRR G
Share capital B 30,000 102 101,359 100,258 100,258
Reserves & 159,242 88,736 1,940,291 2,134,949 2,352,051
TOTAL EQUITY EnéE 189,242 88,838 2,041,650 2,235,207 2,452,309
Earnings per share - Basic (RMB cents) BREN —EX(ARES) 9 13 4 37 31

HEAXEZERERAA
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

EIEMBRE

FEMHLER
As at or for the year ended 31 December
RT=R=t-ASBZZALEE
Note 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
it ik Z2ER ZRRLE “ERNE ZEENE
Profitability ratios BRgALE
Gross profit margin eV 1 19.1% 19.4% 25.2% 27.1% 27.8%
Net proft margin = 2 9.8% 9.9% 31.1% 25.6% 21.2%
Return on assets EERGE 3 12.0% 13.1% 13.9% 14.3% 12.8%
Return on equity ERERX 4 36.1% 105.7% 17.2% 17.2% 13.2%
Liquidity ratios hBESHE
Current ratio ik 1S 5 0.4 03 7.0 37 104
Quick ratio R X 6 0.3 0.2 6.8 3.6 9.7
Gearing ratio EERGLE 7 44.0% 46.4% 9.4% 4.6% 0.0%
Inventory tumover days FEBERY 8 30 30 2 18 16
Debtors’ turnover days ERERBEXRY 9 34 31 16 9 7
Creditors’ turnover days ERERBEXRY 10 p 31 3% 37 20
Notes: et -
1. Gross profit margin is calculated based on the gross 1. ERFRAEFIRR A S ZEFERIAI100%:T & -
profit divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%.
2. Net profit margin is calculated based on the profit for 2. Fam AR UAKNFEE & F B A E ETEFR
the year divided by turnover and multiplied by 100%. 100%5T & °
3. Return on assets is calculated based on the profit for 3. BEONREUAFEHFNRAFREERE
the year divided by the total assets at the end of the T LA100%:T & ©
year and multiplied by 100%.
4. Return on equity is calculated based on the profit for 4, BEEROB|EURNFEE)GFBRIAFERE R K
the year divided by capital and reserves at the end the & - A100%:1 & -
year and multiplied by 100%.
5. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current 5. RBLEXURDEELERUNERRBEE
assets divided by the total current liabilities at the end RMEE -
of the year.
6. Quick ratio is calculated based on the difference 6. ERBEEURBEELBEREFENZRER N
between the total current assets and the inventories FRNBEERLESNE -
divided by the total current liabilities at the end of the
year.
7.  Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total bank 7. BEAGBHEURTEELERUNEELE

borrowings divided by total assets and multiplied 100%.

T LA100%:1 & o
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFMBRE

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS (Continued)

FERKLERE)

Notes: (Continued) Htat - (&)

8.  Inventory turnover days is calculated based on the 8. HBERABRIUFREERUARNFERER
inventory at the end of the year divided by the total BRUNAFERNRHH -

purchases dur ing the year and multiplied by the
number of days during the year.

9.  Debtors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade 9.  FEUBRFRE S KRB F R EWE 5 B8R 5B A
receivables at the end of the year divided by turnover REELEHEBRURNFEAREEE -

during the year and multiplied by the number of days
during the year.

10. Creditors’ turnover days is calculated based on trade 10. ENERBEXHBUAFRENEZERBIA
payables at the end of the year divided by the total REERBBERUNAFERNRHSHE -

purchases during the year and multiplied by the
number of days during the year.
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